PROGRESS SOFTWARE CORP /MA

Form 10-Q July 07, 2017 Table of Contents

**UNITED STATES** 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF  $\circ_{1934}$ 

For the quarterly period ended May 31, 2017

"TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number: 0-19417

#### PROGRESS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 04-2746201
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
14 Oak Park
Bedford, Massachusetts 01730
(Address of principal executive offices)(Zip code)

Telephone Number: (781) 280-4000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ý No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ý No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ý Accelerated filer "
Non-accelerated filer "
Emerging growth company"

You have a smaller reporting company of the smaller reporting company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes "No ý

As of June 28, 2017, there were 48,288,664 shares of the registrant's common stock, \$.01 par value per share, outstanding.

# Table of Contents

PROGRESS SOFTWARE CORPORATION FORM 10-Q FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED MAY 31, 2017 INDEX

## PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

| Item 1. | Financial Statements (Unaudited)  | <u>3</u>             |
|---------|---|----------------------|
|         | Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2017 and November 30, 2016                      | <u>3</u>             |
|         | Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017 and |                      |
|         | <u>2016</u>   | <u>4</u>             |
|         | Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended May    | <u>5</u>             |
|         | 31, 2017 and 2016   | <u> </u>             |
|         | Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016      | <u>6</u>             |
|         | Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements  | 6<br>8<br>21         |
| Item 2. | Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations               | <u>21</u>            |
| Item 3. | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  | <u>35</u>            |
| Item 4. | Controls and Procedures   | 35                   |
|         |   |                      |
| PART II | OTHER INFORMATION   |                      |
|         |   |                      |
|         | <u>Legal Proceedings</u>  | <u>37</u>            |
|         | . <u>Risk Factors</u>   | <u>37</u>            |
| Item 2. | <u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>                                  | 37<br>37<br>43<br>43 |
| Item 6. | <u>Exhibits</u>   | <u>43</u>            |
|         | Signatures  | <u>4</u> 4           |
|         | <del></del>   |                      |
|         | Exhibit Index   | <u>45</u>            |
| 2       |   |                      |

# Table of Contents

## PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

# Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

## Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

| (In thousands, except share data)  | May 31,<br>2017 | November  |
|--|-----------------|-----------|
| Assets   | 2017            | 30, 2016  |
| Current assets:  |                 |           |
| Cash and cash equivalents  | \$197,886       | \$207,036 |
| Short-term investments   | · ·             |           |
|  | 47,196          | 42,718    |
| Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  | 245,082         | 249,754   |
| Accounts receivable (less allowances of \$1,051 and \$1,143, respectively)                     | 43,894          | 65,678    |
| Other current assets   | 22,332          | 20,621    |
| Total current assets   | 311,308         | 336,053   |
| Property and equipment, net  | 44,863          | 50,105    |
| Intangible assets, net   | 86,864          | 80,827    |
| Goodwill   | 290,698         | 278,067   |
| Deferred tax assets  | 1,098           | 6,601     |
| Other assets   | 2,233           | 3,174     |
| Total assets   | \$737,064       | \$754,827 |
| Liabilities and shareholders' equity   |                 |           |
| Current liabilities:   |                 |           |
| Current portion of long-term debt  | \$14,643        | \$15,000  |
| Accounts payable   | 8,748           | 12,991    |
| Accrued compensation and related taxes   | 21,158          | 26,212    |
| Dividends payable to shareholders  | 6,035           | 6,067     |
| Income taxes payable   | 1,653           | 1,509     |
| Other accrued liabilities  | 24,751          | 12,999    |
| Short-term deferred revenue  | 133,254         | 128,960   |
| Total current liabilities  | 210,242         | 203,738   |
| Long-term debt   | 111,964         | 120,000   |
| Long-term deferred revenue   | 8,820           | 8,801     |
| Deferred tax liabilities   | 7,798           | 3,901     |
| Other noncurrent liabilities   | 5,404           | 11,758    |
| Commitments and contingencies  |                 |           |
| Shareholders' equity:  |                 |           |
| Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value; authorized, 10,000,000 shares; issued, none                 |                 |           |
| Common stock, \$0.01 par value, and additional paid-in capital; authorized, 200,000,000 shares |                 | 220 406   |
| issued and outstanding, 48,280,613 shares in 2017 and 48,536,516 shares in 2016                | ' 242,331       | 239,496   |
| Retained earnings  | 173,617         | 195,694   |
| Accumulated other comprehensive loss   |                 | (28,561)  |
| Total shareholders' equity   | 392,836         | 406,629   |
| Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   | \$737,064       | \$754,827 |
| See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.                            |                 |           |

# Table of Contents

# Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

|  | Three Mo<br>Ended | onths        | Six Mont     | hs Ended        |
|--|-------------------|--------------|--------------|-----------------|
| (In thousands, except per share data)      | May 31, 2017      | May 31, 2016 | May 31, 2017 | May 31,<br>2016 |
| Revenue:                                   | 2017              | 2010         | 2017         | 2010            |
| Software licenses                          | \$25,592          | \$28,787     | \$49,914     | \$52,742        |
| Maintenance and services                   | 67,621            | 67,331       | 134,269      | 132,857         |
| Total revenue                              | 93,213            | 96,118       | 184,183      | 185,599         |
| Costs of revenue:                          | , , , , , , ,     | , ,,,,,,,,   | ,            | ,               |
| Cost of software licenses                  | 1,422             | 1,233        | 3,010        | 2,715           |
| Cost of maintenance and services           | 11,262            | 11,063       | 21,754       | 21,392          |
| Amortization of acquired intangibles       | 4,683             | 3,939        | 8,361        | 7,878           |
| Total costs of revenue                     | 17,367            | 16,235       | 33,125       | 31,985          |
| Gross profit                               | 75,846            | 79,883       | 151,058      | 153,614         |
| Operating expenses:                        | •                 | •            |              | ·               |
| Sales and marketing                        | 21,236            | 29,138       | 46,957       | 58,796          |
| Product development                        | 18,791            | 22,297       | 36,125       | 44,094          |
| General and administrative                 | 11,606            | 12,264       | 22,174       | 24,644          |
| Amortization of acquired intangibles       | 3,223             | 3,185        | 6,402        | 6,370           |
| Restructuring expenses                     | 662               | 331          | 17,801       | 265             |
| Acquisition-related expenses               | 44                | 324          | 93           | 396             |
| Total operating expenses                   | 55,562            | 67,539       | 129,552      | 134,565         |
| Income from operations                     | 20,284            | 12,344       | 21,506       | 19,049          |
| Other (expense) income:                    |                   |              |              |                 |
| Interest expense                           | (1,152)           | (1,013)      | (2,234)      | (2,070)         |
| Interest income and other, net             | 257               | 264          | 478          | 426             |
| Foreign currency (loss) gain, net          | (657)             | (612)        | (1,143)      | (1,542)         |
| Total other (expense) income, net          | (1,552)           | (1,361)      | (2,899)      | (3,186)         |
| Income before income taxes                 | 18,732            | 10,983       | 18,607       | 15,863          |
| Provision for income taxes                 | 8,391             | 3,708        | 8,791        | 5,372           |
| Net income                                 | \$10,341          | \$7,275      | \$9,816      | \$10,491        |
| Earnings per share:                        |                   |              |              |                 |
| Basic                                      | \$0.21            | \$0.15       | \$0.20       | \$0.21          |
| Diluted                                    | \$0.21            | \$0.14       | \$0.20       | \$0.21          |
| Weighted average shares outstanding:       |                   |              |              |                 |
| Basic                                      | 48,221            | 49,873       | 48,477       | 50,341          |
| Diluted                                    | 48,490            | 50,354       | 48,762       | 50,897          |
| Cash dividends declared per common share   |                   | <b>\$</b> —  | \$0.250      | <b>\$</b> —     |
| See notes to unaudited condensed consolida | ited financi      | al stateme   | nts.         |                 |

# Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

|  | Three M<br>Ended | onths        | Six Mon      | ths Ende     | d |
|--|------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---|
| (In thousands)   | May 31, 2017     | May 31, 2016 | May 31, 2017 | May 31, 2016 | , |
| Net income   | \$10,341         | \$7,275      | \$9,816      | \$10,491     |   |
| Other comprehensive income, net of tax:  |                  |              |              |              |   |
| Foreign currency translation adjustments   | 4,143            | 2,907        | 5,371        | 1,817        |   |
| Reclassification adjustment for losses included in net income, net of tax of \$0 for the second quarter and first six months of 2016 | _                | 256          | _            | 256          |   |
| Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax provision of \$5 and \$45 for   | r                |              |              |              |   |
| the second quarter and first six months of 2017, respectively and \$0 for the  | 7                | (43          | 78           | (3           | ) |
| second quarter and first six months of 2016  |                  |              |              |              |   |
| Total other comprehensive income, net of tax   | 4,150            | 3,120        | 5,449        | 2,070        |   |
| Comprehensive income   | \$14,491         | \$10,395     | \$15,265     | \$12,561     |   |

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

# Table of Contents

# Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

|   | Six Month    | is Ended |   |                 |  |   |
|---|--------------|----------|---|-----------------|--|---|
| (In thousands)                              | May 31, 2017 |          |   | May 31,<br>2016 |  |   |
| Cash flows from                             |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| operating activities:                       |              | 0.016    |   |                 | 10.404   |   |
| Net income                                  | \$           | 9,816    |   | \$              | 10,491   |   |
| Adjustments to reconcile net income to      |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| net cash provided by                        |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| operating activities:                       |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| Depreciation and                            |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| amortization of property                    | y3,962       |          |   | 4,382           |  |   |
| and equipment                               |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| Amortization of                             | 15,886       |          |   | 15,527          |  |   |
| intangibles and other<br>Stock-based        |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| compensation                                | 5,263        |          |   | 13,231          |  |   |
| Loss on disposal of                         | 155          |          |   | 200             |  |   |
| property                                    | 155          |          |   | 298             |  |   |
| Deferred income taxes                       | 4,727        |          |   | 1,441           |  |   |
| Excess tax benefit from                     | (353         |          | ) | (258            | `  | ) |
| stock plans                                 |              |          | , | `               | , and the second se |   |
| Allowances for accounts receivable          | 42           |          |   | (504            |  | ) |
| Changes in operating                        |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| assets and liabilities:                     |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| Accounts receivable                         | 22,651       |          |   | 19,364          |  |   |
| Other assets                                | 946          |          |   | (5,444          |  | ) |
| Accounts payable and                        | (6,475       |          | ) | (17,557         |  | ) |
| accrued liabilities                         | 401          |          | , | 962             | Ź  |   |
| Income taxes payable Deferred revenue       | 2,708        |          |   | 7,329           |  |   |
| Net cash flows from                         |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| operating activities                        | 59,729       |          |   | 49,262          |  |   |
| Cash flows used in                          |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| investing activities:                       |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| Purchases of                                | (14,376      |          | ) | (25,970         |  | ) |
| investments Salas and maturities of         | ,            |          | , | ,               |  |   |
| Sales and maturities of investments         | 9,440        |          |   | 4,885           |  |   |
| Purchases of property                       | <b>4700</b>  |          |   | (0.61 <b>=</b>  | ,  |   |
| and equipment                               | (523         |          | ) | (2,617          |  | ) |
| Payments for                                |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| acquisitions, net of cash                   | 1 (28,270    |          | ) | _               |  |   |
| acquired                                    |              |          |   |                 |  |   |
| Net cash flows used in investing activities | (33,729      |          | ) | (23,702         |  | ) |

| Cash flows used in financing activities:   |         |         |   |         |         |   |
|--|---------|---------|---|---------|---------|---|
| Proceeds from<br>stock-based<br>compensation plans   | 5,031   |         |   | 6,007   |         |   |
| Purchases of stock<br>related to withholding<br>taxes from the issuance<br>of restricted stock units | (2,367  |         | ) | (2,751  |         | ) |
| Repurchases of common stock  | (24,954 |         | ) | (58,516 |         | ) |
| Excess tax benefit from stock plans  | 353     |         |   | 258     |         |   |
| Dividend payments to shareholders  | (12,116 |         | ) | _       |         |   |
| Payment of long-term debt  | (7,500  |         | ) | (5,625  |         | ) |
| Net cash flows used in financing activities  | (41,553 |         | ) | (60,627 |         | ) |
| Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  | 6,403   |         |   | 2,421   |         |   |
| Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  | (9,150  |         | ) | (32,646 |         | ) |
| Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   | 207,036 |         |   | 212,379 |         |   |
| Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   | \$      | 197,886 |   | \$      | 179,733 |   |
| 6  |         |         |   |         |         |   |

# Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, continued

|   | Six Mon<br>Ended | ths          |
|---|------------------|--------------|
|   | May 31, 2017     | May 31, 2016 |
| Supplemental disclosure:  |                  |              |
| Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds of \$2,928 in 2017 and \$647 in 2016                             | \$4,962          | \$7,778      |
| Cash paid for interest  | \$1,745          | \$ 1,559     |
| Non-cash investing and financing activities:  |                  |              |
| Total fair value of restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and deferred stock units on date vested | \$13,754         | \$7,769      |
| Unsettled repurchases of common stock   | <b>\$</b> —      | \$1,516      |
| Dividends declared  | \$6,035          | \$ <i>—</i>  |
| Unsettled sale of property, plant and equipment, net  | \$1,488          | \$ <i>—</i>  |
| See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.   |                  |              |

#### **Table of Contents**

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

#### Note 1: Basis of Presentation

Company Overview - Progress offers the leading platform for developing and deploying mission-critical business applications. We empower enterprises and independent software vendors (ISVs) to build and deliver cognitive-first applications, that harness big data to derive business insights and competitive advantage. We offer leading technologies for easily building powerful user interfaces across any type of device, a reliable, scalable and secure backend platform to deploy modern applications, leading data connectivity to all sources, and award-winning predictive analytics that brings the power of machine learning to any organization. Over 1,700 ISVs, 80,000 enterprise customers, and 2 million developers rely on Progress to power their applications.

Our products are generally sold as perpetual licenses, but certain products also use term licensing models and our cloud-based offerings use a subscription based model. More than half of our worldwide license revenue is realized through relationships with indirect channel partners, principally application partners and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). Application partners are ISVs that develop and market applications using our technology and resell our products in conjunction with sales of their own products that incorporate our technology. OEMs are companies that embed our products into their own software products or devices.

We operate in North America and Latin America (the Americas); Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA); and the Asia Pacific region, through local subsidiaries as well as independent distributors.

Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies - We prepared the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regarding interim financial reporting. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for complete financial statements and these unaudited financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016.

We made no significant changes in the application of our significant accounting policies that were disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016. We have prepared the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements on the same basis as the audited financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016, and these financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the results of the interim periods presented. The operating results for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASU 2017-04). ASU 2017-04 amends Topic 350 to simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. This update requires the performance of an annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An impairment charge should be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value. However, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The guidance in ASU 2017-04 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. We are currently considering whether to adopt this update prior to the required adoption date.

In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805), Clarifying the Definition of a Business (ASU 2017-01). ASU 2017-01 provides a screen to determine when an

integrated set of assets and activities is not a business. The screen requires that when substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired (or disposed of) is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not a business. This screen reduces the number of transactions that need to be further evaluated. The guidance in ASU 2017-01 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. We are currently considering whether to adopt this update prior to the required adoption date and, in any event, do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

In August 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (ASU 2016-15). ASU 2016-15 is intended to add or clarify guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows and to eliminate the diversity in practice related to such classifications. The guidance in ASU 2016-15 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that implementation of this update will have upon adoption on our consolidated statement of cash flows.

In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (ASU 2016-09). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify various aspects of the accounting for employee share-based payment transactions, including accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. The guidance in ASU 2016-09 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that implementation of this update will have upon adoption on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02), which requires lessees to record most leases on their balance sheets, recognizing a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments and a right-to-use asset for the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The guidance in ASU 2016-02 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We currently expect that most of our operating lease commitments will be subject to the update and recognized as operating lease liabilities and right-of-use assets upon adoption. However, we are currently evaluating the effect that implementation of this update will have upon adoption on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (ASU 2015-03). ASU 2015-03 requires debt issuance costs to be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying value of the associated debt liability, consistent with the presentation of a debt discount. The guidance in ASU 2015-03 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within the reporting period. Accordingly, upon adoption in the first quarter of fiscal 2017, we reclassified \$1.0 million from other assets to long-term debt in our condensed consolidated balance sheet.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (ASU 2014-09). ASU 2014-09 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard also requires new disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. This new guidance was initially effective for annual reporting periods (including interim reporting periods within those periods) beginning after December 15, 2016 and early adoption was not permitted. However, in July 2015, the FASB voted to defer the effective date of this ASU by one year for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted as of the original effective date. As a result, the effective date for the Company will be December 1, 2018.

Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or a modified approach to adopt the guidance. The Company plans to adopt this ASU in accordance with the full retrospective approach, effective December 1, 2018. Fiscal year 2019 quarterly results, and comparative prior periods, will be prepared in accordance with ASC 606. The first Annual Report on Form 10-K issued in accordance with ASC 606 will be for the period ended November 30, 2019.

Management is currently assessing the impact the adoption of this standard will have on the Company's consolidated financial statements, but anticipates that the revenue recognition related to accounting for the following transactions will be most impacted:

Revenue from term licenses with extended payment terms over the term of the agreement within our Data Connectivity and Integration segment - These transactions are typically recognized when the amounts are billed to the customer under current revenue recognition guidance. In accordance with ASU 2014-09, revenue from term license performance obligations is expected to be recognized upon delivery and revenue from maintenance performance obligations is expected to be recognized over the contract term. To the extent the Company enters into future term licenses with extended payment terms after adoption of ASU 2014-09, revenue from term licenses with extended payment terms will be recognized prior to the customer being billed and the Company will recognize a net contract asset on the balance sheet. Accordingly, license revenue will be accelerated under ASU 2014-09 as the Company currently does not recognize revenue until the amounts have been billed to the customer.

#### **Table of Contents**

Revenue from transactions with multiple elements within our Application Development and Deployment segment (i.e., sales of perpetual licenses with maintenance and/or support) - These transactions are currently recognized ratably over the associated maintenance period as the Company does not have vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) for maintenance or support. Under ASU 2014-09, the requirement to have VSOE for undelivered elements that exists under current guidance is eliminated. Accordingly, the Company will recognize a portion of the sales price as revenue upon delivery of the license instead of recognizing the entire sales price ratably over the maintenance period.

### Note 2: Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

A summary of our cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments at May 31, 2017 is as follows (in thousands):

|                                      | Amortized         | Unrealized | Unrealized | Fair      |
|--------------------------------------|-------------------|------------|------------|-----------|
|                                      | <b>Cost Basis</b> | Gains      | Losses     | Value     |
| Cash                                 | \$191,940         | \$ —       | \$ —       | \$191,940 |
| Money market funds                   | 5,946             | _          | _          | 5,946     |
| State and municipal bond obligations | 37,195            | 11         | _          | 37,206    |
| U.S. treasury bonds                  | 5,680             | _          | (28)       | 5,652     |
| Corporate bonds                      | 4,338             | _          | _          | 4,338     |
| Total                                | \$245,099         | \$ 11      | \$ (28 )   | \$245,082 |

A summary of our cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments at November 30, 2016 is as follows (in thousands):

|                                      | Amortized  | Unrealized | Unrealized | Fair      |
|--------------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|-----------|
|                                      | Cost Basis | Gains      | Losses     | Value     |
| Cash                                 | \$196,863  | \$ -       | -\$        | \$196,863 |
| Money market funds                   | 10,173     | _          |            | 10,173    |
| State and municipal bond obligations | 32,831     | _          | (107)      | 32,724    |
| U.S. treasury bonds                  | 6,542      | _          | (29)       | 6,513     |
| Corporate bonds                      | 3,485      | _          | (4)        | 3,481     |
| Total                                | \$249,894  | \$ -       | -\$ (140 ) | \$249,754 |

Such amounts are classified on our condensed consolidated balance sheets as follows (in thousands):

|                                      | May 31, 2 | 017                   | November  | r 30, 2016            |
|--------------------------------------|-----------|-----------------------|-----------|-----------------------|
|                                      | Cash and  | Short-Term            | Cash and  | Short-Term            |
|                                      | Equivalen | t <b>k</b> nvestments | Equivalen | t <b>k</b> nvestments |
| Cash                                 | \$191,940 | \$ —                  | \$196,863 | \$ —                  |
| Money market funds                   | 5,946     | _                     | 10,173    | _                     |
| State and municipal bond obligations | _         | 37,206                | _         | 32,724                |
| U.S. treasury bonds                  | _         | 5,652                 | _         | 6,513                 |
| Corporate bonds                      | _         | 4,338                 | _         | 3,481                 |
| Total                                | \$197,886 | \$ 47,196             | \$207,036 | \$ 42,718             |

#### **Table of Contents**

The fair value of debt securities by contractual maturity is as follows (in thousands):

May 31, November 30, 2017 2016

Due in one year or less \$30,363 \$ 21,172

Due after one year (1) 16,833 21,546

Total \$47,196 \$ 42,718

(1) Includes state and municipal bond obligations and corporate bonds, which are securities representing investments available for current operations and are classified as current in the consolidated balance sheets.

We did not hold any investments with continuous unrealized losses as of May 31, 2017 or November 30, 2016.

#### Note 3: Derivative Instruments

We generally use forward contracts that are not designated as hedging instruments to hedge economically the impact of the variability in exchange rates on intercompany accounts receivable and loans receivable denominated in certain foreign currencies. We generally do not hedge the net assets of our international subsidiaries.

All forward contracts are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets at the end of each reporting period and expire from 30 days to one year. At May 31, 2017, \$5.9 million was recorded in other accrued liabilities. At November 30, 2016, \$6.6 million was recorded in other noncurrent liabilities. In the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, realized and unrealized gains of \$3.6 million and \$4.4 million, respectively, from our forward contracts were recognized in foreign currency (loss) gain, net, in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. In the three and six months ended May 31, 2016, realized and unrealized gains of \$2.3 million and \$0.8 million, respectively, from our forward contracts were recognized in foreign currency (loss) gain, net, in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The gains were substantially offset by realized and unrealized losses on the offsetting positions.

The table below details outstanding foreign currency forward contracts where the notional amount is determined using contract exchange rates (in thousands):

|  | May 31, 2017          | November 30, 2016      |
|--|-----------------------|------------------------|
|  | Notional Wahine Value | e Notional Wantu Value |
| Forward contracts to sell U.S. dollars     | \$111,962 \$ (5,898   | \$74,690 \$ (6,597 )   |
| Forward contracts to purchase U.S. dollars | 595 —                 | 1,673 (19 )            |
| Total                                      | \$112,557 \$ (5,898   | \$76,363 \$ (6,616 )   |

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table details the fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy of our financial assets and liabilities at May 31, 2017 (in thousands):

Fair Value
Measurements Using
Total Fair Level
Value
1
Level 2
3

| Δ             | SS | e | rc. |
|---------------|----|---|-----|
| $\overline{}$ |    | • | LO  |

| Money market funds                   | \$5,946 | \$5,946     | <b>\$</b> — | \$ |   |
|--------------------------------------|---------|-------------|-------------|----|---|
| State and municipal bond obligations | 37,206  | _           | 37,206      | —  |   |
| U.S. treasury bonds                  | 5,652   | _           | 5,652       | —  |   |
| Corporate bonds                      | 4,338   | _           | 4,338       | —  |   |
| Liabilities                          |         |             |             |    |   |
| Foreign exchange derivatives         | (5,898) | <b>\$</b> — | \$(5,898)   | \$ | _ |
|                                      |         |             |             |    |   |

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table details the fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy of our financial assets and liabilities at November 30, 2016 (in thousands):

|                                      |                     | Fair Value         |             |        |    |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|-------------|--------|----|
|                                      |                     | Measurements Using |             |        |    |
|                                      | Total Fair<br>Value | Level 1            | Level 2     | Leve 3 | el |
| Assets                               |                     |                    |             |        |    |
| Money market funds                   | \$10,173            | \$10,173           | <b>\$</b> — | \$     | _  |
| State and municipal bond obligations | 32,724              | _                  | 32,724      |        |    |
| U.S. treasury bonds                  | 6,513               | _                  | 6,513       |        |    |
| Corporate bonds                      | 3,481               | _                  | 3,481       |        |    |
| Liabilities                          |                     |                    |             |        |    |
| Foreign exchange derivatives         | \$(6,616)           | <b>\$</b> —        | \$(6,616)   | \$     | _  |

When developing fair value estimates, we maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. When available, we use quoted market prices to measure fair value. The valuation technique used to measure fair value for our Level 1 and Level 2 assets is a market approach, using prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets. If market prices are not available, the fair value measurement is based on models that use primarily market based parameters including yield curves, volatilities, credit ratings and currency rates. In certain cases where market rate assumptions are not available, we are required to make judgments about assumptions market participants would use to estimate the fair value of a financial instrument.

We did not have any nonrecurring fair value measurements during the six months ended May 31, 2017.

#### Note 5: Intangible Assets and Goodwill

#### **Intangible Assets**

Intangible assets are comprised of the following significant classes (in thousands):

|                            | May 31, 2 | 017                      |          | November  | r 30, 2016                  |          |
|----------------------------|-----------|--------------------------|----------|-----------|-----------------------------|----------|
|                            | Gross     | A commulated             | Net      | Gross     | A commulated                | Net      |
|                            | Carrying  | Accumulated Amortization | DOOK     |           | Accumulated<br>Amortization | Book     |
|                            | Amount    | Amortization             | Value    | Amount    | Amoruzanon                  | Value    |
| Purchased technology       | \$129,786 | \$ (76,477 )             | \$53,309 | \$109,886 | \$ (68,116 )                | \$41,770 |
| Customer-related           | 67,702    | (41,033)                 | 26,669   | 67,602    | (35,852)                    | 31,750   |
| Trademarks and trade names | 15,940    | (9,054)                  | 6,886    | 15,140    | (7,833)                     | 7,307    |
| Total                      | \$213,428 | \$ (126,564)             | \$86,864 | \$192,628 | \$(111,801)                 | \$80,827 |

The addition to intangible assets during the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 is related to the acquisition of DataRPM Corporation (DataRPM) in March 2017 (Note 6).

In the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, amortization expense related to intangible assets was \$7.9 million and \$14.8 million, respectively. In the three and six months ended May 31, 2016, amortization expense related to intangible assets was \$7.1 million and \$14.3 million, respectively.

#### **Table of Contents**

Future amortization expense for intangible assets as of May 31, 2017, is as follows (in thousands):

| Remainder of 2017 | \$15,783 |
|-------------------|----------|
| 2018              | 30,773   |
| 2019              | 29,649   |
| 2020              | 4,874    |
| 2021              | 4,745    |
| Thereafter        | 1,040    |
| Total             | \$86,864 |

#### Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in the six months ended May 31, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance, November 30, 2016 \$278,067 Additions 12,601 Translation adjustments 30 Balance, May 31, 2017 \$290,698

The addition to goodwill during the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 is related to the acquisition of DataRPM in March 2017 (Note 6).

Changes in the goodwill balances by reportable segment in the six months ended May 31, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):

|  | November 30, | A dditions | Translation |          | May 31,   |
|--|--------------|------------|-------------|----------|-----------|
|  | 2016         | Additions  | Adjı        | ustments | 2017      |
| OpenEdge                               | \$ 212,062   | \$ 12,601  | \$          | 30       | \$224,693 |
| Data Connectivity and Integration      | 19,040       | _          |             |          | 19,040    |
| Application Development and Deployment | 46,965       | _          | —           |          | 46,965    |
| Total goodwill                         | \$ 278,067   | \$ 12,601  | \$          | 30       | \$290,698 |

During the quarter ending May 31, 2017, no triggering events have occurred that would indicate that it is more likely than not that the carrying values of any of our reporting units exceeded their fair values.

#### Note 6: Business Combinations

### Data RPM Acquisition

On March 1, 2017, we acquired by merger 100% of the outstanding securities of DataRPM for an aggregate sum of \$30.0 million. Approximately \$1.7 million of the purchase price was paid to DataRPM's founders in the form of restricted stock units, subject to a two-year vesting schedule and continued employment. This will be recorded as stock-based compensation over the vesting term. DataRPM is a privately-held company and leader in cognitive predictive maintenance for the industrial IoT (IIoT) market. This acquisition is a key part of the Company's strategy to provide the best platform to build and deliver cognitive-first applications. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, and accordingly, the results of operations of DataRPM are included in our operating results as part of the OpenEdge business segment from the date of acquisition. We paid the purchase price in cash from available funds.

The total consideration, less the fair value of the granted restricted stock units discussed above, which are considered compensation arrangements, has been allocated to DataRPM's tangible assets, identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities based on their estimated fair values. The preliminary fair value estimates of the net assets acquired are based upon preliminary calculations and valuations, and those estimates and assumptions are subject to change as we obtain additional information for those estimates during the measurement period (up to one year from the acquisition date). The areas of the preliminary estimates that are not yet finalized relate to identifiable intangible assets and deferred taxes. The excess of the total

#### **Table of Contents**

consideration, less the fair value of the restricted stock units, over the tangible assets, identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities was recorded as goodwill.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase price is as follows (in thousands):

|                               | Total    | Life    |
|-------------------------------|----------|---------|
| Net working capital           | \$(110)  |         |
| Property, plant and equipment | 68       |         |
| Purchased technology          | 19,900   | 5 Years |
| Trade name                    | 800      | 5 Years |
| Customer relationships        | 100      | 5 Years |
| Deferred taxes                | (5,024)  |         |
| Goodwill                      | 12,601   |         |
| Net assets acquired           | \$28,335 |         |

The preliminary fair value of the intangible assets has been estimated using the income approach in which the after-tax cash flows are discounted to present value. The cash flows are based on estimates used to price the acquisition, and the discount rates applied were benchmarked with reference to the implied rate of return from the transaction model as well as the weighted average cost of capital.

Deferred taxes include deferred tax liabilities resulting from the tax effects of fair value adjustments related to identifiable intangible assets, partially offset by the fair value of deferred tax assets acquired from DataRPM. Tangible assets acquired and assumed liabilities were recorded at fair value.

We recorded the excess of the purchase price over the identified tangible and intangible assets as goodwill. We believe that the investment value of the future enhancement of our product and solution offerings created as a result of this acquisition has principally contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of \$12.6 million of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes.

As discussed above, approximately \$1.7 million of the total consideration was paid to DataRPM's founders in restricted stock units, subject to a vesting schedule and continued employment. We concluded that the restricted stock units are compensation arrangements and we have been recognizing stock-based compensation expense in accordance with the vesting schedule over the service period of the awards, which is 2 years. We recorded a minimal amount of stock-based compensation expense related to these restricted stock units as operating expenses in our condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended May 31, 2017.

Acquisition-related transaction costs (e.g., legal, due diligence, valuation, and other professional fees) are not included as a component of consideration transferred, but are required to be expensed as incurred. We incurred a minimal amount of acquisition-related costs, which are included in acquisition-related expenses in our condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended May 31, 2017.

We have not disclosed the amount of revenues and earnings of DataRPM since acquisition, nor pro forma financial information, as those amounts are not significant to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### Note 7: Term Loan and Line of Credit

Our credit agreement provides for a \$150 million secured term loan and a \$150 million secured revolving credit facility, which may be made available in U.S. Dollars and certain other currencies. The revolving credit facility may be increased by up to an additional \$75 million if the existing or additional lenders are willing to make such increased commitments. We borrowed the \$150 million term loan included in our credit agreement to partially fund our

acquisition of Telerik AD in December 2014. The revolving credit facility has sublimits for swing line loans up to \$25.0 million and for the issuance of standby letters of credit in a face amount up to \$25.0 million. We expect to use the revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions of other businesses, and may also use it for working capital.

The credit facility matures on December 2, 2019, when all amounts outstanding will be due and payable in full. The revolving credit facility does not require amortization of principal. The outstanding balance of the \$150 million term loan as of May 31, 2017 was \$127.5 million, with \$15.0 million due in the next 12 months. The term loan requires repayment of principal at the

#### **Table of Contents**

end of each fiscal quarter, beginning with the fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2015. The first eight payments were in the principal amount of \$1.9 million each, the following eight payments are in the principal amount of \$3.8 million each, the next subsequent three payments are in the principal amount of \$5.6 million each, and the last payment is of the remaining principal amount. Any amounts outstanding under the term loan thereafter would be due on the maturity date. The term loan may be prepaid before maturity in whole or in part at our option without penalty or premium. As of May 31, 2017, the carrying value of the term loan approximates the fair value, based on Level 2 inputs (observable market prices in less than active markets), as the interest rate is variable over the selected interest period and is similar to current rates at which we can borrow funds. The interest rate of the credit facility as of May 31, 2017 was 2.75%.

Costs incurred to obtain our long-term debt of \$1.8 million are being amortized over the term of the debt agreement using the effective interest rate method. Amortization expense related to debt issuance costs of \$0.1 million for the three months ended May 31, 2017 and May 31, 2016 and \$0.2 million for the six months ended May 31, 2017 and May 31, 2016, respectively, is recorded within interest expense in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. The unamortized portion of debt issuance costs of \$0.9 million is recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying value of the debt liability in our condensed consolidated balance sheet as of May 31, 2017, with \$0.4 million deducted from the current portion of long-term debt balance and \$0.5 million deducted from the long-term debt balance. Prior to fiscal year 2017 and the adoption of ASU 2015-03, the unamortized portion of debt issuance costs were recorded in other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheet (Note 1).

Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed until December 2, 2019, at which time all amounts outstanding must be repaid. As of May 31, 2017, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving line and \$0.5 million of letters of credit.

As of May 31, 2017, aggregate principal payments of long-term debt for the next five years and thereafter are (in thousands):

| Remainder of 2017 | 7 \$7,500 |
|-------------------|-----------|
| 2018              | 15,000    |
| 2019              | 16,875    |
| 2020              | 88,125    |
| Total             | \$127,500 |

#### Note 8: Common Stock Repurchases

We repurchased and retired 0.2 million shares of our common stock for \$6.9 million in the three months ended May 31, 2017 and 0.9 million shares for \$25.0 million in the six months ended May 31, 2017. In the three and six months ended May 31, 2016, we repurchased and retired 1.9 million shares for \$48.3 million and 2.4 million shares for \$60.0 million, respectively. The shares were repurchased in all periods as part of our Board of Directors authorized share repurchase program.

In March 2016, our Board of Directors authorized a new \$100.0 million share repurchase program, which increased the total authorization to \$214.5 million. As of May 31, 2017, there is \$110.4 million remaining under this current authorization.

## Note 9: Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense reflects the fair value of stock-based awards, less the present value of expected dividends, measured at the grant date and recognized over the relevant service period. We estimate the fair value of each stock-based award on the measurement date using the current market price of the stock or the Black-Scholes

option valuation model.

In addition, during each fiscal year from 2014 through 2017 we granted performance-based restricted stock units that include a three-year market condition under a Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") where the performance measurement period is three years. Vesting of the LTIP awards is based on our level of attainment of specified total shareholder return (TSR) targets relative to the percentage appreciation of a specified index of companies for the respective three year periods and is also subject to the continued employment of the grantees. In order to estimate the fair value of such awards, we used a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation model.

The Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo Simulation valuation models incorporate assumptions as to stock price volatility, the expected life of options or awards, a risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. We recognize stock-based compensation expense related to options and restricted stock units on a straight-line basis over the service period of the award, which is generally 4 years for options and 3 years for restricted stock units. We recognize stock-based compensation expense related to performance stock units and our employee stock purchase plan using an accelerated attribution method.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table provides the classification of stock-based compensation as reflected in our condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

|                                  | Three Months    |         | Six Mo  | nths     |
|----------------------------------|-----------------|---------|---------|----------|
|                                  | Ended           |         | Ended   |          |
|                                  | May 31, May 31, |         | May 31  | May 31,  |
|                                  | 2017            | 2016    | 2017    | 2016     |
| Cost of maintenance and services | \$294           | \$ 180  | \$551   | \$376    |
| Sales and marketing              | 200             | 962     | 563     | 2,041    |
| Product development              | 1,158           | 2,397   | 1,054   | 5,077    |
| General and administrative       | 1,981           | 2,754   | 3,095   | 5,737    |
| Total stock-based compensation   | \$3,633         | \$6,293 | \$5,263 | \$13,231 |

Note 10: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated balances of other comprehensive loss during the six months ended May 31, 2017 (in thousands):

|   | Foreign     | Unrealized  | Accumulated   |
|---|-------------|-------------|---------------|
|   | Currency    | Gains       | Other         |
|   | Translation | (Losses) on | Comprehensive |
|   | Adjustment  | Investments | Loss          |
| Balance, December 1, 2016                                     | \$ (28,425) | \$ (136 )   | \$ (28,561)   |
| Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications, net of tax | 5,371       | 78          | 5,449         |
| Balance, May 31, 2017   | \$ (23,054) | \$ (58)     | \$ (23,112 )  |

The tax effect on accumulated unrealized gains (losses) on investments was minimal as of May 31, 2017 and November 30, 2016.

## Note 11: Restructuring Charges

The following table provides a summary of activity for all of the restructuring actions, the most significant of which are detailed further below (in thousands):

|                                   | Excess         | Employee         |          |
|-----------------------------------|----------------|------------------|----------|
|                                   | Facilities and | d Severance and  | Total    |
|                                   | Other Costs    | Related Benefits |          |
| Balance, December 1, 2016         | \$ 107         | \$ 1,443         | \$1,550  |
| Costs incurred                    | 2,001          | 15,800           | 17,801   |
| Cash disbursements                | (640)          | (10,990 )        | (11,630) |
| Asset impairment                  | (727)          |                  | (727)    |
| Translation adjustments and other | 6              | 212              | 218      |
| Balance, May 31, 2017             | \$ 747         | \$ 6,465         | \$7,212  |

## 2017 Restructuring

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, we undertook certain operational restructuring initiatives intended to significantly reduce annual costs. As part of this action, management committed to a new strategic plan highlighted by

a new product strategy and a streamlined operating approach. To execute these operational restructuring initiatives, we reduced our global workforce by approximately 20%. These workforce reductions commenced in the first fiscal quarter of 2017 and were substantially completed by the end of the second fiscal quarter of 2017. These workforce reductions occurred in substantially all functional units and across all geographies in which we operate. We also consolidated offices in various locations during the first and second fiscal quarters of 2017 and expect additional expenses related to facility closures during the remainder of fiscal year 2017. We do not expect these additional costs to be material.

#### **Table of Contents**

Restructuring expenses are related to employee costs, including severance, health benefits and outplacement services (but excluding stock-based compensation), facilities costs, which include fees to terminate lease agreements and costs for unused space, net of sublease assumptions, and other costs, which include asset impairment charges.

As part of this first quarter of fiscal year 2017 restructuring, for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, we incurred expenses of \$0.6 million and \$17.7 million, respectively, which are recorded as restructuring expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

A summary of the first six months of fiscal year 2017 activity for this restructuring action is as follows (in thousands):

|                                   | Excess       |    | Employee        |   |          |
|-----------------------------------|--------------|----|-----------------|---|----------|
|                                   | Facilities a | nd | Severance and   |   | Total    |
|                                   | Other Cost   | S  | Related Benefit | S |          |
| Balance, December 1, 2016         | \$ —         |    | \$ —            |   | \$—      |
| Costs incurred                    | 1,924        |    | 15,800          |   | 17,724   |
| Cash disbursements                | (507         | )  | (10,149         | ) | (10,656) |
| Asset impairment                  | (727         | )  | _               |   | (727)    |
| Translation adjustments and other | 6            |    | 212             |   | 218      |
| Balance, May 31, 2017             | \$ 696       |    | \$ 5,863        |   | \$6,559  |

Cash disbursements for expenses incurred to date under this restructuring are expected to be made through the third quarter of fiscal year 2018. The short-term portion of the restructuring reserve of \$6.3 million is included in other accrued liabilities and the long-term portion of \$0.3 million is included in other noncurrent liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2017.

#### 2016 Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016, our management approved, committed to and initiated plans to make strategic changes to our organization as a result of the appointment of our new Chief Executive Officer during the period. In connection with the new organizational structure, we eliminated the positions of Chief Product Officer and Chief Revenue Officer.

Restructuring expenses are related to employee costs, including severance, health benefits and outplacement services (but excluding stock-based compensation).

As part of this fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016 restructuring, for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, we incurred no additional expenses.

A summary of the first six months of fiscal year 2017 activity for this restructuring action is as follows (in thousands):

|                           | Excess         | Employee         |         |
|---------------------------|----------------|------------------|---------|
|                           | Facilities and | Severance and    | Total   |
|                           | Other Costs    | Related Benefits |         |
| Balance, December 1, 2016 | \$             | -\$ 1,415        | \$1,415 |
| Cash disbursements        |                | (826)            | (826)   |
| Balance, May 31, 2017     | \$             | -\$ 589          | \$589   |

Cash disbursements for expenses incurred to date under this restructuring are expected to be made through the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2017. As a result, the total amount of the restructuring reserve of \$0.6 million is included in other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2017.

### Note 12: Income Taxes

Our income tax provision for the second quarter of fiscal years 2017 and 2016 reflects our estimates of the effective tax rates expected to be applicable for the full fiscal years, adjusted for any discrete events which are recorded in the period they occur. The estimates are reevaluated each quarter based on our estimated tax expense for the full fiscal year.

Our effective income tax rate was 47% in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 compared to 34% in the same period last year. The increase in our effective tax rate in the six months ended May 31, 2017 compared to the same period in the prior year is

#### **Table of Contents**

primarily because during the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended May 31, 2016, we identified an error in our prior year income tax provision whereby income tax expense was overstated for the year ended November 30, 2015 by \$2.7 million related to our tax treatment of an intercompany gain. We determined that the error is not material to the prior year financial statements. We also concluded that recording an out-of-period correction would not be material and therefore corrected this error by recording an out-of-period \$2.7 million tax benefit in our interim financial statements for the period ended May 31, 2016.

Our Federal income tax returns have been examined or are closed by statute for all years prior to fiscal year 2015. Our state income tax returns have been examined or are closed by statute for all years prior to fiscal year 2015.

Tax authorities for certain non-U.S. jurisdictions are also examining returns, none of which are material to our consolidated balance sheets, cash flows or statements of income. With some exceptions, we are generally no longer subject to tax examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for years prior to fiscal year 2012.

#### Note 13: Earnings Per Share

We compute basic earnings per share using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. We compute diluted earnings per share using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of outstanding dilutive stock options, restricted stock units and deferred stock units, using the treasury stock method. The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share on an interim basis (in thousands, except per share data):

|   | Three Months |         | Six Months |          |
|---|--------------|---------|------------|----------|
|   | Ended        |         | Ended      |          |
|   | May 31,      | May 31, | May 31     | May 31,  |
|   | 2017         | 2016    | 2017       | 2016     |
| Net income                                    | \$10,341     | \$7,275 | \$9,816    | \$10,491 |
| Weighted average shares outstanding           | 48,221       | 49,873  | 48,477     | 50,341   |
| Dilutive impact from common stock equivalents | 269          | 481     | 285        | 556      |
| Diluted weighted average shares outstanding   | 48,490       | 50,354  | 48,762     | 50,897   |
| Basic earnings per share                      | \$0.21       | \$0.15  | \$0.20     | \$0.21   |
| Diluted earnings per share                    | \$0.21       | \$0.14  | \$0.20     | \$0.21   |

We excluded stock awards representing approximately 941,000 shares and 519,000 shares of common stock from the calculation of diluted earnings per share in the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, respectively, because these awards were anti-dilutive. In the three and six months ended May 31, 2016, we excluded stock awards representing 450,000 shares and 491,000 shares of common stock, respectively, from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they were anti-dilutive.

#### **Table of Contents**

### Note 14: Business Segments and International Operations

Operating segments are components of an enterprise that engage in business activities for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer.

The changes made to our organization during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016 and first quarter of fiscal year 2017, as discussed in Note 11, did not change our determination of the three reportable segments as our organizational structure maintains the focus of the three business segments.

We do not manage our assets or capital expenditures by segment or assign other income (expense) and income taxes to segments. We manage and report such items on a consolidated company basis.

The following table provides revenue and contribution from our reportable segments and reconciles to the consolidated income before income taxes:

|  | Three Months<br>Ended |              | Six Month    | s Ended         |
|--|-----------------------|--------------|--------------|-----------------|
| (In thousands)                                   | May 31, 2017          | May 31, 2016 | May 31, 2017 | May 31,<br>2016 |
| Segment revenue:                                 |                       |              |              |                 |
| OpenEdge   | \$65,890              | \$66,928     | \$130,398    | \$131,061       |
| Data Connectivity and Integration                | 7,096                 | 10,005       | 13,924       | 16,601          |
| Application Development and Deployment           | 20,227                | 19,185       | 39,861       | 37,937          |
| Total revenue                                    | 93,213                | 96,118       | 184,183      | 185,599         |
| Segment costs of revenue and operating expenses: |                       |              |              |                 |
| OpenEdge   | 16,287                | 17,296       | 34,164       | 35,360          |
| Data Connectivity and Integration                | 2,069                 | 3,134        | 4,331        | 6,035           |
| Application Development and Deployment           | 5,991                 | 9,724        | 13,527       | 18,535          |
| Total costs of revenue and operating expenses    | 24,347                | 30,154       | 52,022       | 59,930          |
| Segment contribution:                            |                       |              |              |                 |
| OpenEdge   | 49,603                | 49,632       | 96,234       | 95,701          |
| Data Connectivity and Integration                | 5,027                 | 6,871        | 9,593        | 10,566          |
| Application Development and Deployment           | 14,236                | 9,461        | 26,334       | 19,402          |
| Total contribution                               | 68,866                | 65,964       | 132,161      | 125,669         |
| Other unallocated expenses (1)                   | 48,582                | 53,620       | 110,655      | 106,620         |
| Income from operations                           | 20,284                | 12,344       | 21,506       | 19,049          |
| Other (expense) income, net                      | (1,552)               | (1,361)      | (2,899)      | (3,186)         |
| Income before income taxes                       | \$18,732              | \$10,983     | \$18,607     | \$15,863        |

<sup>(1)</sup> The following expenses are not allocated to our segments as we manage and report our business in these functional areas on a consolidated basis only: product development, corporate marketing, administration, amortization of acquired intangibles, stock-based compensation, restructuring, and acquisition related expenses.

#### **Table of Contents**

Our revenues are derived from licensing our products, and from related services, which consist of maintenance, hosting services, and consulting and education. Information relating to revenue from customers by revenue type is as follows (in thousands):

|                       | Three Months |          | Six Months Ended  |           |  |
|-----------------------|--------------|----------|-------------------|-----------|--|
|                       | Ended        |          | SIX WORLDS Effect |           |  |
| (In thousands)        | May 31,      | May 31,  | May 31,           | May 31,   |  |
|                       | 2017         | 2016     | 2017              | 2016      |  |
| Software licenses     | \$25,592     | \$28,787 | \$49,914          | \$52,742  |  |
| Maintenance           | 59,898       | 59,485   | 119,036           | 117,821   |  |
| Professional services | 7,723        | 7,846    | 15,233            | 15,036    |  |
| Total                 | \$93,213     | \$96,118 | \$184,183         | \$185,599 |  |

In the following table, revenue attributed to North America includes sales to customers in the U.S. and sales to certain multinational organizations. Revenue from Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA), Latin America and the Asia Pacific region includes sales to customers in each region plus sales from the U.S. to distributors in these regions. Information relating to revenue from external customers from different geographical areas is as follows (in thousands):

|                | Three Months<br>Ended |          | Six Months Ended |           |  |
|----------------|-----------------------|----------|------------------|-----------|--|
|                |                       |          |                  |           |  |
| (In thousands) | May 31,               | May 31,  | May 31,          | May 31,   |  |
|                | 2017                  | 2016     | 2017             | 2016      |  |
| North America  | \$51,430              | \$53,392 | \$101,735        | \$102,457 |  |
| <b>EMEA</b>    | 30,646                | 31,577   | 60,490           | 62,798    |  |
| Latin America  | 5,637                 | 4,389    | 10,660           | 8,082     |  |
| Asia Pacific   | 5,500                 | 6,760    | 11,298           | 12,262    |  |
| Total          | \$93,213              | \$96,118 | \$184,183        | \$185,599 |  |

#### Note 15: Subsequent Events

On June 1, 2017, we acquired by merger 100% of the outstanding securities of Kinvey, Inc. (Kinvey) for an aggregate sum of \$49.0 million, which includes approximately \$0.3 million held-back for the founder of Kinvey as an incentive for the founder to remain with the Company for at least two years following the acquisition. Kinvey is a privately-held company providing Backend-as-a-Service (BaaS), which allows developers to set up, use, and operate a cloud backend for any native, hybrid, web, or IoT app built using any development tools. This acquisition, in combination with our existing frontend technologies, including NativeScript and Kendo UI, along with cognitive capabilities from DataRPM and our strong data connectivity technologies, enables us to offer a premier platform for building and delivering cognitive business applications to both new customers and partners as well as our existing OpenEdge partner and customer ecosystems. As a result of the timing of the transaction, the initial accounting for the business combination was incomplete through the date that our condensed consolidated financial statements were issued. Results of operations for Kinvey will be included in our consolidated financial statements as part of the OpenEdge business segment from the date of acquisition.

#### **Table of Contents**

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 contains certain safe harbor provisions regarding forward-looking statements. This Form 10-Q, and other information provided by us or statements made by our directors, officers or employees from time to time, may contain "forward-looking" statements and information, which involve risks and uncertainties. Actual future results may differ materially. Statements indicating that we "expect," "estimate," "believe," "are planning" or "plan to" are forward-looking, as are other statements concerning future financial results, product offerings or other events that have not yet occurred. There are various factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated by the forward-looking statements, including but not limited to the following: (1) Economic, geopolitical and market conditions, including the continued difficult economic environment in Brazil, and the continued slow economic recovery in Europe, parts of the U.S. and other parts of the world, can adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, including our revenue growth and profitability, which in turn could adversely affect our stock price. (2) We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts due to such factors as delays or size reductions in transactions, fewer large transactions in a particular quarter, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, or a decline in our renewal rates for contracts. (3) Our ability to successfully manage transitions to new business models and markets, including an increased emphasis on a cloud and subscription strategy, may not be successful. (4) If we are unable to develop new or sufficiently differentiated products and services, or to enhance and improve our existing products and services in a timely manner to meet market demand, partners and customers may not purchase new software licenses or subscriptions or purchase or renew support contracts. (5) We depend upon our extensive partner channel and we may not be successful in retaining or expanding our relationships with channel partners. (6) Our international sales and operations subject us to additional risks that can adversely affect our operating results, including risks relating to foreign currency gains and losses. (7) If the security measures for our software, services or other offerings are compromised or subject to a successful cyber-attack, or if such offerings contain significant coding or configuration errors, we may experience reputational harm, legal claims and financial exposure. (8) We have made acquisitions, and may make acquisitions in the future, and those acquisitions may not be successful, may involve unanticipated costs or other integration issues or may disrupt our existing operations and those factors discussed in Part II, Item 1A (Risk Factors) in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-O, and in Part I, Item 1A (Risk Factors) in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016. Although we have sought to identify the most significant risks to our business, we cannot predict whether, or to what extent, any of such risks may be realized. We also cannot assure you that we have identified all possible issues which we might face. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements that we make.

#### Use of Constant Currency

Revenue from our international operations has historically represented more than half of our total revenue. As a result, our revenue results have been impacted, and we expect will continue to be impacted, by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. For example, if the local currencies of our foreign subsidiaries weaken, our consolidated results stated in U.S. dollars are negatively impacted.

As exchange rates are an important factor in understanding period to period comparisons, we believe the presentation of revenue growth rates on a constant currency basis enhances the understanding of our revenue results and evaluation of our performance in comparison to prior periods. The constant currency information presented is calculated by translating current period results using prior period weighted average foreign currency exchange rates. These results should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, results reported in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

### Overview

Progress offers the leading platform for developing and deploying mission-critical business applications. We empower enterprises and independent software vendors (ISVs) to build and deliver cognitive-first applications, that harness big data to derive business insights and competitive advantage. We offer leading technologies for easily building powerful user interfaces across any type of device, a reliable, scalable and secure backend platform to deploy modern applications, leading data connectivity to all sources, and award-winning predictive analytics that brings the power of machine learning to any organization. Over 1,700 ISVs, 80,000 enterprise customers, and 2 million developers rely on Progress to power their applications. We operate as three distinct segments: OpenEdge, Data Connectivity and Integration, and Application Development and Deployment.

Beginning in late October 2016, with the appointment of Yogesh Gupta as our new Chief Executive Officer, our Board of Directors and executive management team undertook a comprehensive review of our strategy and operations, including our

#### **Table of Contents**

expectations for fiscal year 2017 results. Based on this review, we reduced our future growth expectations with respect to the product lines within our Application Development and Deployment reporting unit.

On January 16, 2017, we announced a new strategic plan highlighted by a new product strategy and a streamlined operating approach with a tighter focus on areas of strength to more efficiently drive revenue. The key tenets of the new strategic plan are as follows:

Streamlined Operating Approach. In fiscal year 2017, we adapted our organization and operating principles to focus primarily on customer and partner retention and success for many of our core products. For selected products that have new customer acquisition potential, we are also strengthening our demand generation and high volume, low touch e-commerce capabilities.

New Product Strategy. As part of the new strategic plan, we undertook a new product strategy to provide the platform and tools enterprises need to build next generation applications that drive their businesses, known as "Cognitive Applications." Our platform for Cognitive Applications will make it easy for developers to build machine learning into their applications, and it will include:

Our leading UI development tools which enable organizations to easily build engaging user interfaces for any device or front end;

Our NativeScript offering, which allows developers to use JavaScript to build native applications across multiple mobile platforms;

A mission-critical back-end-as-a-service platform that runs on any cloud, is secure, high-performing, and highly-scalable while supporting all modern user interfaces;

Automated and intuitive machine learning capabilities for accelerating the creation and delivery of Cognitive Applications;

Our data connectivity and integration capabilities; and

Our business logic and rules capabilities.

Restructuring. With the adoption of our new product strategy, we discontinued our investment in our Digital Factory strategy and re-aligned our resources consistent with our core operating approach. To that end, during the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, we began to implement restructuring efforts including the consolidation of facilities, implementation of a simplified organizational structure and a reduction of marketing and other external expenses. In addition, we began to reduce headcount by approximately 400 employees, totaling over 20% of our workforce. Initial headcount reductions commenced in the fiscal first quarter of 2017 and were substantially completed by the end of the fiscal second quarter of 2017. After investments in our new product strategy, we expect to reduce our net annual run-rate costs by approximately \$20 million by the end of fiscal year 2017.

As of May 31, 2017, there is \$110.4 million remaining under the current \$214.5 million Board of Directors-authorized share repurchase program. The timing and amount of any shares repurchased will be determined by management based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors, and the Board of Directors may choose to suspend, expand or discontinue the repurchase program at any time.

In September 2016, our Board of Directors approved the initiation of a quarterly cash dividend to Progress shareholders. On January 11, 2017, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share of common stock that was paid on March 15, 2017 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 1, 2017. On March 24, 2017, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share of common stock that was paid on June 15, 2017 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on June 1, 2017. We expect this dividend to continue in subsequent quarters.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from international operations, which are primarily conducted in foreign currencies. As a result, changes in the value of these foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar have significantly impacted our results of operations and may impact our future results of operations. During the past two years, the value of the U.S. dollar has remained historically strong in comparison to certain foreign currencies, including in Europe, Brazil and Australia. Since approximately one-third of our revenue is denominated in foreign currency, our revenue results have been negatively impacted, and we expect will continue to be impacted, by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

On March 1, 2017, we acquired DataRPM for an aggregate sum of \$30.0 million, which includes approximately \$1.7 million of restricted stock units. DataRPM is a privately-held company and leader in cognitive predictive maintenance for the industrial IoT (IIoT) market. This acquisition is a key part of the Company's strategy to provide the best platform to build and deliver cognitive-first applications.

#### **Table of Contents**

On June 1, 2017, we acquired Kinvey for an aggregate sum of \$49.0 million, which includes approximately \$0.3 million held-back for the founder of Kinvey as an incentive for the founder to remain with the Company for at least two years following the acquisition. Kinvey is the leading Backend-as-a-Service (BaaS) provider and allows developers to set up, use, and operate a cloud backend for any native, hybrid, web, or IoT app built using any development tools. This acquisition, in combination with our leading frontend technologies, including NativeScript and Kendo UI, along with cognitive capabilities from DataRPM and our strong data connectivity technologies, enables us to offer the premier platform for building and delivering cognitive business applications to both new customers and partners as well as our existing OpenEdge partner and customer ecosystems.

We expect to continue to evaluate possible acquisitions and other strategic transactions designed to expand our business and/or add complementary products and technologies to our existing product sets. As a result, our expected uses of cash could change, our cash position could be reduced and we may incur additional debt obligations to the extent we complete additional acquisitions.

However, we believe that existing cash balances, together with funds generated from operations and amounts available under our credit facility, will be sufficient to finance our operations and meet our foreseeable cash requirements, including quarterly cash dividends to Progress shareholders, through at least the next twelve months.

#### **Results of Operations**

#### Revenue

|                   | Three Mo     | nths 1          | Percer  | ntage         | ;                             |
|-------------------|--------------|-----------------|---------|---------------|-------------------------------|
|                   | Ended        |                 | Chang   |               |                               |
| (In thousands)    | May 31, 1    | May 31,         | As Re   | Con           | stant                         |
| (III tilousalius) | 2017         | 2016            | 115 110 | Cur           | rency                         |
| Revenue           | \$93,213     | \$96,118        | (3)%    | (2            | )%                            |
|                   | Six Montl    | hs Ended        |         | centa<br>inge | ige                           |
| (In thousands)    | May 31, 2017 | May 31,<br>2016 |         | _             | Constant<br>orted<br>Currency |
| Revenue           | \$184,183    | \$185,59        | 9 (1    | )%            | <b>-</b> %                    |

The total revenue decrease in all periods was primarily a result of a decrease in license revenue as further described below. Changes in prices from fiscal year 2016 to 2017 did not have a significant impact on our revenue.

## License Revenue

|                                  | Three Mon    | ths Ended       | Percentage<br>Change    |
|----------------------------------|--------------|-----------------|-------------------------|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31, 2017 | May 31,<br>2016 | As Reported Currency    |
| License                          | \$25,592     | \$28,787        | (11)% (10)%             |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 27 %         | 30 %            |                         |
|                                  | Six Month    | s Ended         | Percentage<br>Change    |
| (In thousands)                   | May 31, 2017 | May 31,<br>2016 | As Reported<br>Currency |

License \$49,914 \$52,742 (5)% (5)% As a percentage of total revenue 27 % 28 %

License revenue decreased in all periods primarily due to decreases in license revenue in North America from products included in our Data Connectivity and Integration, due to the timing of certain OEM renewal agreements.

## **Table of Contents**

#### Maintenance and Services Revenue

|   | Three Mon                          | ths Ended     | Percentage<br>Change    |  |  |  |
|---|------------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------|--|--|--|
| (In thousands)                            | May 31, 2017                       | May 31, 2016  | As Reported<br>Currency |  |  |  |
| Maintenance                               | \$59,898                           | \$59,485      | 1 % 2 %                 |  |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue          | 64 %                               | 62 %          |                         |  |  |  |
| Services                                  | 7,723                              | 7,846         | (2)% $(1)%$             |  |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue          | 8 %                                | 8 %           |                         |  |  |  |
| Total maintenance and services revenue    | \$67,621                           | \$67,331      | <b>—</b> % 2 %          |  |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue          | 73 %                               | 70 %          |                         |  |  |  |
|   | Six Months Ended Percentage Change |               |                         |  |  |  |
| (In thousands)                            | May 31, 2017                       | May 31, 2016  | As Reported<br>Currency |  |  |  |
| Maintenance                               | \$119,036                          | \$117,821     | 1 % 2 %                 |  |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue          | 65 %                               | 6 63          | %                       |  |  |  |
|   | 05                                 | 0 03          | 70                      |  |  |  |
| Services                                  | 15,233                             | 15,036        | 1 % 2 %                 |  |  |  |
| Services As a percentage of total revenue | 15,233                             |               | , -                     |  |  |  |
|   | 15,233<br>8 9                      | 15,036<br>% 8 | 1 % 2 %                 |  |  |  |

Maintenance revenue increased in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same quarter and first six months last year primarily due to higher maintenance revenue in North America from our DevTools and Sitefinity products included in our Application Development and Deployment segment. The decrease in services revenue in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 was due to a decrease in lower professional services revenue generated by our OpenEdge segment compared to the same quarter last year. The increase in services revenue in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 was primarily due to higher professional services revenue generated by our Application Development and Deployment segment compared to the same period last year.

#### Revenue by Region

|                                  | Three Months Ended |                    |                 |   |     | Percentage |                    |                     |  |  |
|----------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-----------------|---|-----|------------|--------------------|---------------------|--|--|
|                                  | Three MC           | Three Months Ended |                 |   |     |            | Change             |                     |  |  |
| (In thousands)                   | May 31, 2017       |                    | May 31,<br>2016 |   | As  | Rep        | Con<br>orte<br>Cur | stant<br>d<br>rency |  |  |
| North America                    | \$51,430           |                    | \$53,392        | , |     | )%         |                    | )%                  |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 55                 | %                  | 56              | % |     |            |                    |                     |  |  |
| EMEA                             | \$30,646           |                    | \$31,577        |   | (3  | )%         | 2                  | %                   |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 33                 | %                  | 33              | % |     |            |                    |                     |  |  |
| Latin America                    | \$5,637            |                    | \$4,389         |   | 28  | %          | 17                 | %                   |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 6                  | %                  | 4               | % |     |            |                    |                     |  |  |
| Asia Pacific                     | \$5,500            |                    | \$6,760         |   | (19 | 9)%        | (19                | )%                  |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 6                  | %                  | 7               | % |     |            |                    |                     |  |  |

#### **Table of Contents**

|                                  | Six Mont     | ths | Percentage<br>Change |   |       |                     |                       |
|----------------------------------|--------------|-----|----------------------|---|-------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31, 2017 |     | May 31, 2016         |   | As Re | Cor<br>porte<br>Cur | nstant<br>ed<br>rency |
| North America                    | \$101,735    | 5   | \$102,457            | 7 | (1)%  | (1                  | )%                    |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 55           | %   | 55                   | % |       |                     |                       |
| EMEA                             | \$60,490     |     | \$62,798             |   | (4)%  | 1                   | %                     |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 33           | %   | 34                   | % |       |                     |                       |
| Latin America                    | \$10,660     |     | \$8,082              |   | 32 %  | 19                  | %                     |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 6            | %   | 4                    | % |       |                     |                       |
| Asia Pacific                     | \$11,298     |     | \$12,262             |   | (8)%  | (9                  | )%                    |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 6            | %   | 7                    | % |       |                     |                       |

Total revenue generated in North America decreased \$2.0 million, and total revenue generated outside North America decreased \$0.9 million, in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same quarter last year. Total revenue generated in North America decreased \$0.7 million, and total revenue generated outside North America decreased \$0.7 million, in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same period last year. The decrease in all periods in North America was primarily due to license revenue decreases in our Data Connectivity and Integration segment. The decrease in all periods in EMEA was primarily due to maintenance revenue decreases in our OpenEdge segment, largely due to the negative impact of exchange rate fluctuations, partially offset by an increase in maintenance revenue from our DevTools and Sitefinity products included in our Application Development and Deployment segment. The increase in all periods in Latin America was primarily due to increases in OpenEdge license sales. The decrease in all periods in Asia Pacific was related to a large deal in our Data Connectivity and Integration segment with a customer in Japan that occurred in the second quarter of fiscal year 2016.

Total revenue generated in markets outside North America represented 45% of total revenue in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 and 45% of total revenue in the same period last year. If exchange rates had remained constant in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the exchange rates in effect in the same period of fiscal year 2016, total revenue generated in markets outside North America would have been 45% of total revenue.

#### Revenue by Segment

|  | Three Months |            | Percen          | tage            |        |  |
|--|--------------|------------|-----------------|-----------------|--------|--|
|  | Ended        |            | Chang           | e               |        |  |
| (In thousands)                                 | May 31,      | May 31,    | As              | Cons            | tant   |  |
| (III tilousalius)                              |              | 2016       | Reportedurrence |                 | ency   |  |
| OpenEdge segment                               | \$65,890     | \$66,928   | (2)%            |                 | %      |  |
| Data Connectivity and Integration segment      | 7,096        | 10,005     | (29)%           | (28             | )%     |  |
| Application Development and Deployment segment | 20,227       | 19,185     | 5 %             | 6               | %      |  |
| Total revenue                                  | \$93,213     | \$96,118   | (3)%            | (2              | )%     |  |
|  | Six Mont     | he Endad   | Perc            | entage          | 2      |  |
|  | SIX MOIII    | iis Eliucu | Change          |                 |        |  |
| (In thousands)                                 | May 31,      | May 31,    | As              | Co              | nstant |  |
| (III tilousalius)                              | 2017         | 2016       | Rep             | orte <b>G</b> u | rrency |  |
| OpenEdge segment                               | \$130,398    | \$131,06   | 1 (1 )          | % 1             | %      |  |
| Data Connectivity and Integration segment      | 13,924       | 16,601     | (16)            | % (16           | 5)%    |  |
| Application Development and Deployment segment | 39,861       | 37,937     | 5               | % 5             | %      |  |
| Total revenue                                  | \$184,183    | \$185,59   | 9 (1 )          | % —             | %      |  |

Revenue in the OpenEdge segment decreased in all periods primarily due to a decrease in maintenance revenue, largely due to the negative impact of exchange rate fluctuations. Data Connectivity and Integration revenue decreased in all periods primarily due to the timing of certain OEM renewals. Application Development and Deployment revenue increased in all periods as a result of higher maintenance revenue from our DevTools and Sitefinity products.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Cost of Software Licenses

|   | Three Months Ended |         |         |                      |      |       | Six Months Ended |       |         |      |        |     |
|---|--------------------|---------|---------|----------------------|------|-------|------------------|-------|---------|------|--------|-----|
| (In thousands)                              |                    | May 31, |         | May 31, Percentage 1 |      | May 3 | 31,              | May 3 | 1,      | Perc | entage |     |
| (In thousands)                              | 2017               |         | 2016    |                      | Chan | ge    | 2017             |       | 2016    |      | Cha    | nge |
| Cost of software licenses                   | \$1,422            | ,       | \$1,233 | 3                    | 15   | %     | \$3,01           | 0     | \$2,715 | 5    | 11     | %   |
| As a percentage of software license revenue | 6                  | %       | 4       | %                    |      |       | 6                | %     | 5       | %    |        |     |
| As a percentage of total revenue            | 2                  | %       | 1       | %                    |      |       | 2                | %     | 1       | %    |        |     |

Cost of software licenses consists primarily of costs of royalties, electronic software distribution, duplication, and packaging. Cost of software licenses as a percentage of software license revenue varies from period to period depending upon the relative product mix.

#### Cost of Maintenance and Services

|   | Three Mo     | nths Ended   | Si                        |                |              |                      |
|---|--------------|--------------|---------------------------|----------------|--------------|----------------------|
| (In thousands)                                      | May 31, 2017 | May 31, 2016 | Percentage M<br>Change 20 | (ay 31,<br>)17 | May 31, 2016 | Percentage<br>Change |
| Cost of maintenance and services                    | \$11,262     | \$11,063     |                           | 21,754         | \$21,392     | 2 %                  |
| As a percentage of maintenance and services revenue | 17 %         | 6 16 %       | 5 16                      | 5 %            | 16 %         |                      |
| As a percentage of total revenue                    | 12 %         | 6 12 %       | 12                        | 2 %            | 12 %         |                      |

Cost of maintenance and services consists primarily of costs of providing customer support, consulting, and education.

## Amortization of Acquired Intangibles

|                                      | Three Months Ended |    |         |    | Six Months Ended |       |         |    |        |     |     |         |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------|----|---------|----|------------------|-------|---------|----|--------|-----|-----|---------|
| (In thousands)                       | May 3              | 1, | May 3   | 1, | Perce            | ntage | May 3   | 1, | May 3  | 31, | Per | centage |
| (In thousands)                       | 2017               |    | 2016    |    | Chan             | ge    | 2017    |    | 2016   |     | Cha | ange    |
| Amortization of acquired intangibles | \$4,683            | ,  | \$3,939 | )  | 19               | %     | \$8,361 |    | \$7,87 | 8   | 6   | %       |
| As a percentage of total revenue     | 5                  | %  | 4       | %  |                  |       | 5       | %  | 4      | %   |     |         |

Amortization of acquired intangibles included in costs of revenue primarily represents the amortization of the value assigned to technology-related intangible assets obtained in business combinations. Amortization of acquired intangibles increased in all periods due to the addition of intangible assets associated with the technology obtained in connection with the acquisition of DataRPM in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, partially offset by the impairment of intangible assets associated with the technology obtained in connection with the acquisition of Modulus as well as the completion of amortization of certain intangible assets acquired in prior years.

## Gross Profit

|                                  | Three Mon | ths Ended |            | Six Months Ended |           |            |  |
|----------------------------------|-----------|-----------|------------|------------------|-----------|------------|--|
| (In thousands)                   | •         | •         | Percentage | •                | May 31,   | Percentage |  |
| (III tilousalius)                | 2017      | 2016      | Change     | 2017             | 2016      | Change     |  |
| Gross profit                     | \$75,846  | \$79,883  | (5)%       | \$151,058        | \$153,614 | (2)%       |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 81 %      | 83 %      |            | 82 %             | 83 %      |            |  |

Our gross profit decreased in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 primarily due to the decreases of license revenue and increases of amortization of acquired intangibles as described above.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Sales and Marketing

|                                  | Three Mo | nths Ended |            | Six Months Ended |          |            |  |
|----------------------------------|----------|------------|------------|------------------|----------|------------|--|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31,  | May 31,    | Percentage | May 31,          | May 31,  | Percentage |  |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017     | 2016       | Change     | 2017             | 2016     | Change     |  |
| Sales and marketing              | \$21,236 | \$29,138   | (27)%      | \$46,957         | \$58,796 | (20)%      |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 23 %     | 5 30 %     | )          | 25 %             | 32 %     |            |  |

Sales and marketing expenses decreased in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 primarily due to lower compensation-related and travel costs as a result of the headcount reduction actions which occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, as well as a decrease in spending on marketing programs.

#### **Product Development**

|                                  | Three Mo | nths Ended |            | Six Month |          |            |
|----------------------------------|----------|------------|------------|-----------|----------|------------|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31,  | May 31,    | Percentage | May 31,   | May 31,  | Percentage |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017     | 2016       | Change     | 2017      | 2016     | Change     |
| Product development costs        | \$18,791 | \$22,297   | (16)%      | \$36,125  | \$44,094 | (18)%      |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 20 %     | 6 23 %     | 6          | 20 %      | 24 %     |            |

Product development expenses decreased in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 primarily due to lower compensation-related costs as a result of the headcount reduction actions which occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017.

## General and Administrative

|                                  | Three Mor | nths Ended |            | Six Months Ended |          |            |  |
|----------------------------------|-----------|------------|------------|------------------|----------|------------|--|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31,   | May 31,    | Percentage | May 31,          | May 31,  | Percentage |  |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017      | 2016       | Change     | 2017             | 2016     | Change     |  |
| General and administrative       | \$11,606  | \$12,264   | (5)%       | \$22,174         | \$24,644 | (10)%      |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 12 %      | 13 %       |            | 12 %             | 13 %     |            |  |

General and administrative expenses include the costs of our finance, human resources, legal, information systems and administrative departments. General and administrative expenses decreased in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 primarily due to lower compensation-related costs as a result of the headcount reduction actions which occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017.

## Amortization of Acquired Intangibles

|                                      | Three Mo | onths Ende | d          | Six Mont |         |            |
|--------------------------------------|----------|------------|------------|----------|---------|------------|
| (In thousands)                       | May 31,  | May 31,    | Percentage | May 31,  | May 31, | Percentage |
| (In thousands)                       | 2017     | 2016       | Change     | 2017     | 2016    | Change     |
| Amortization of acquired intangibles | \$3,223  | \$3,185    | 1 %        | \$6,402  | \$6,370 | 1 %        |
| As a percentage of total revenue     | 3 %      | 3 %        |            | 3 %      | 3 %     |            |

Amortization of acquired intangibles included in operating expenses primarily represents the amortization of value assigned to intangible assets obtained in business combinations other than assets identified as purchased technology. Amortization of acquired intangibles increased slightly in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 due to the addition of intangible assets obtained in connection with the acquisition of DataRPM, which occurred in the

second quarter of fiscal year 2017.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Restructuring Expenses

|                                  | Three N | Months En | ided       | Six Month | s Ended |            |
|----------------------------------|---------|-----------|------------|-----------|---------|------------|
| (In the august de)               | May 31  | ,May 31,  | Percentage | May 31,   | May 31, | Percentage |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017    | 2016      | Change     | 2017      | 2016    | Change     |
| Restructuring expenses           | \$662   | \$331     | 100 %      | \$17,801  | \$265   | 6,617 %    |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 1 %     | %         |            | 10 %      | %       |            |

Restructuring expenses recorded in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 relate to the restructuring activities occurring in the first fiscal quarter of 2017. See Note 11 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for additional details, including types of expenses incurred and the timing of future expenses and cash payments. See also the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of this Item 2, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

#### Acquisition-Related Expenses

|                                  | Three | Months E | Ended |        | Six M | onths End | led   |        |
|----------------------------------|-------|----------|-------|--------|-------|-----------|-------|--------|
| (In thousands)                   | May 3 | 1May 31, | Perce | entage | May 3 | 1May 31,  | Perce | entage |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017  | 2016     | Chan  | ige    | 2017  | 2016      | Chan  | ıge    |
| Acquisition-related expenses     | \$44  | \$324    | (86   | )%     | \$93  | \$396     | (77   | )%     |
| As a percentage of total revenue | %     | _ %      |       |        | — %   | %         |       |        |

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and include those costs incurred as a result of a business combination. These costs consist of professional service fees, including third-party legal and valuation-related fees, as well as retention fees, including earn-out payments treated as compensation expense. Acquisition-related expenses in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal year 2017 and 2016 were minimal.

#### **Income from Operations**

|                                  | Three Mor | nths Ended |            | Six Month | ths Ended |            |  |  |
|----------------------------------|-----------|------------|------------|-----------|-----------|------------|--|--|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31,   | May 31,    | Percentage | May 31,   | May 31,   | Percentage |  |  |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017      | 2016       | Change     | 2017      | 2016      | Change     |  |  |
| Income from operations           | \$20,284  | \$12,344   | 64 %       | \$21,506  | \$19,049  | 13 %       |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 22 %      | 13 %       | )          | 12 %      | 10 %      |            |  |  |

Income from operations increased in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same quarter last year primarily due to lower compensation and benefits costs, as well as decreased facilities costs, both the result of the headcount reduction actions that occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. Income from operations increased in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same period last year also as a result of the headcount reduction actions that occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, partially offset by the restructuring expenses recorded in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017.

#### Income from Operations by Segment

|   | Three Months Ended |          |                    | Six Mont |                    |        |
|---|--------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|
| (In thousands)                            | May 31,            | May 31,  | Percentage May 31, |          | May 31, Percentage |        |
|   | 2017               | 2016     | Change             | 2017     | 2016               | Change |
| OpenEdge segment                          | \$49,603           | \$49,632 | %                  | \$96,234 | \$95,701           | 1 %    |
| Data Connectivity and Integration segment | 5,027              | 6,871    | (27)%              | 9,593    | 10,566             | (9)%   |

| Application Development and Deployment segment | 14,236   | 9,461    | 50 | %  | 26,334    | 19,402    | 36 | % |
|--|----------|----------|----|----|-----------|-----------|----|---|
| Other unallocated expenses (1)                 | (48,582) | (53,620) | (9 | )% | (110,655) | (106,620) | 4  | % |
| Income from operations                         | \$20,284 | \$12,344 | 64 | %  | \$21,506  | \$19,049  | 13 | % |

#### **Table of Contents**

(1) Note that the following expenses are not allocated to our segments as we manage and report our business in these functional areas on a consolidated basis only: product development, corporate marketing, general and administration, amortization of acquired intangibles, stock-based compensation, restructuring, and acquisition-related expenses.

#### Other (Expense) Income, Net

|                                   | Three Mon | ths Ended                     |        | Six Months | nths Ended |            |  |  |
|-----------------------------------|-----------|-------------------------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|--|--|
| (In the area and a)               | May 31,   | May 31, May 31, Percentage Ma |        | May 31,    | May 31,    | Percentage |  |  |
| (In thousands)                    | 2017      | 2016                          | Change | 2017       | 2016       | Change     |  |  |
| Interest expense                  | \$(1,152) | \$(1,013)                     | (14)%  | \$(2,234)  | \$(2,070)  | (8)%       |  |  |
| Interest income and other, net    | 257       | 264                           | (3)%   | 478        | 426        | 12 %       |  |  |
| Foreign currency (loss) gain, net | (657)     | (612)                         | (7)%   | (1,143)    | (1,542)    | 26 %       |  |  |
| Total other (expense) income, net | \$(1,552) | \$(1,361)                     | (14)%  | \$(2,899)  | \$(3,186)  | 9 %        |  |  |
| As a percentage of total revenue  | (2)%      | (1)%                          |        | (2)%       | (2)%       |            |  |  |

Other (expense) income, net increased \$0.2 million in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same quarter last year primarily due to an increase to interest expense. Other (expense) income, net decreased \$0.3 million in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the same period last year primarily due to the decrease of the foreign currency loss in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 compared to the foreign currency loss in the first six months of fiscal year 2016. The change in foreign currency gains/losses is a result of movements in exchange rates and the impact in the first and second quarters of fiscal year 2017 on our intercompany receivables and payables denominated in currencies other than local currencies.

#### **Provision for Income Taxes**

|                                  | Three I | Μo | nths En | de | d      |       | Six M  | ontl | hs En | ded |      |        |
|----------------------------------|---------|----|---------|----|--------|-------|--------|------|-------|-----|------|--------|
| (In thousands)                   | May 31  | 1, | May 3   | 1, | Percei | ntage | May 3  | 1,   | May   | 31, | Perc | entage |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017    |    | 2016    |    | Chang  | ge    | 2017   |      | 2016  | )   | Char | ıge    |
| Provision for income taxes       | \$8,391 |    | \$3,708 | ,  | 126    | %     | \$8,79 | 1    | \$5,3 | 72  | 64   | %      |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 9       | %  | 4       | %  |        |       | 5      | %    | 3     | %   |      |        |

Our effective income tax rate was 45% in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 compared to 34% in the second quarter of fiscal year 2016, and 47% in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 compared to 34% in the same period last year. The increase in the effective rate is primarily because during the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended May 31, 2016, we identified an error in our prior year income tax provision whereby income tax expense was overstated for the year ended November 30, 2015 by \$2.7 million related to our tax treatment of an intercompany gain. We determined that the error is not material to the prior year financial statements. We also concluded that recording an out-of-period correction would not be material and therefore corrected this error by recording an out-of-period \$2.7 million tax benefit in our interim financial statements for the period ended May 31, 2016.

#### Net Income

|                                  | Three Mon | ths Ended |            | Six Mont | hs Ended |            |
|----------------------------------|-----------|-----------|------------|----------|----------|------------|
| (In they cando)                  | May 31,   | May 31,   | Percentage | May 31,  | May 31,  | Percentage |
| (In thousands)                   | 2017      | 2016      | Change     | 2017     | 2016     | Change     |
| Net income                       | \$10,341  | \$7,275   | 42 %       | \$9,816  | \$10,491 | (6)%       |
| As a percentage of total revenue | 11 %      | 8 %       |            | 5 %      | 6 %      |            |

#### **Table of Contents**

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

(In thousands)  $\begin{array}{c} \text{May 31,} \\ 2017 \\ 30, 2016 \\ \text{Cash and cash equivalents} \\ \text{Short-term investments} \\ \text{Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments} \\ \end{array}$ 

The decrease in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of \$4.7 million from the end of fiscal year 2016 was primarily due to cash outflows for repurchases of common stock of \$25.0 million, payments for acquisitions of \$28.3 million, payments of debt principal in the amount of \$7.5 million, and dividend payments of \$12.1 million, partially offset by cash inflows from operations of \$59.7 million. Except as described below, there are no limitations on our ability to access our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

As of May 31, 2017, \$38.2 million of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments was held by our foreign subsidiaries. This amount is considered to be permanently reinvested. As such, it is not available to fund our domestic operations. If we were to repatriate these funds, they would be subject to taxation in the U.S., but would be offset by foreign tax credits. We do not believe this has a material adverse impact on our liquidity.

## **Share Repurchase Program**

In January 2014, our Board of Directors authorized a \$100.0 million share repurchase program. In fiscal year 2014, we repurchased and retired 2.3 million shares of our common stock for \$52.6 million. In fiscal year 2015, under the same authorization, we repurchased and retired 1.3 million shares for \$32.9 million. In September 2015, our Board of Directors authorized a new \$100.0 million share repurchase program, which increased the total authorization to \$114.5 million.

In March 2016, our Board of Directors authorized a new \$100.0 million share repurchase program. In fiscal year 2016, we repurchased and retired 3.1 million shares of our common stock for \$79.2 million. In the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, we repurchased and retired 0.6 million shares for \$18.1 million. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, we repurchased and retired 0.2 million shares for \$6.9 million. As of May 31, 2017, there is \$110.4 million remaining under this current authorization. The timing and amount of any shares repurchased will be determined by management based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors, and the Board of Directors may choose to suspend, expand or discontinue the repurchase program at any time.

#### Dividends

On September 27, 2016, our Board of Directors approved the initiation of a quarterly cash dividend to Progress shareholders. The first quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share of common stock was paid on December 15, 2016 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on December 1, 2016. The total amount of cash dividends paid on December 15, 2016 was \$6.1 million.

On January 11, 2017, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share of common stock that was paid on March 15, 2017 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 1, 2017. The total amount of cash dividends paid on March 15, 2017 was \$6.0 million.

On March 24, 2017, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share of common stock that was paid on June 15, 2017 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on June 1, 2017. The total amount of cash dividends paid on June 15, 2017 was \$6.0 million.

On June 21, 2017, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share of common stock that will be paid on September 15, 2017 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on September 1, 2017.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Restructuring Activities

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016, our management approved, committed to and initiated plans to make strategic changes to our organization as a result of the appointment of our new Chief Executive Officer during the period. In connection with the new organizational structure, we eliminated the positions of Chief Product Officer and Chief Revenue Officer.

As part of this fourth quarter restructuring, for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016, we incurred expenses of \$1.5 million. The expenses were recorded as restructuring expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. For the six months ended May 31, 2017, we incurred no additional expenses under this plan. Cash disbursements for expenses incurred to date under this restructuring are expected to be made through the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2017. As a result, the total amount of the restructuring reserve of \$0.6 million and \$1.4 million is included in other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2017 and November 30, 2016, respectively.

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, we announced certain operational restructuring initiatives intended to significantly reduce annual costs. To execute these operational restructuring initiatives, we reduced our global workforce by approximately 20%. These workforce reductions commenced in the first fiscal quarter of 2017 and were substantially completed by the end of the second fiscal quarter of 2017. These workforce reductions occurred in substantially all functional units and across all geographies in which we operate. We also consolidated offices in various locations and expect additional expenses related to facility closures during fiscal year 2017. We do not expect these additional costs to be material.

As part of this first quarter of fiscal year 2017 restructuring, for the six months ended May 31, 2017, we incurred expenses of \$17.7 million, which are recorded as restructuring expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. Cash disbursements for expenses incurred to date under this restructuring are expected to be made through the third quarter of fiscal year 2018. The short-term portion of the restructuring reserve of \$6.3 million is included in other accrued liabilities and the long-term portion of \$0.3 million is included in other noncurrent liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2017.

#### Credit Facility

Our credit agreement provides for a \$150 million secured term loan and a \$150 million secured revolving credit facility, which may be made available in U.S. Dollars and certain other currencies. The revolving credit facility may be increased by up to an additional \$75 million if the existing or additional lenders are willing to make such increased commitments. We borrowed the \$150 million term loan included in our credit agreement to partially fund our acquisition of Telerik in December 2014. The revolving credit facility has sublimits for swing line loans up to \$25.0 million and for the issuance of standby letters of credit in a face amount up to \$25.0 million. We expect to use the revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions of other businesses, and may also use it for working capital.

The credit facility matures on December 2, 2019, when all amounts outstanding will be due and payable in full. The revolving credit facility does not require amortization of principal. The outstanding balance of the \$150 million term loan as of May 31, 2017 was \$127.5 million, with \$15.0 million due in the next 12 months. The term loan requires repayment of principal at the end of each fiscal quarter, beginning with the fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2015. The first eight payments were in the principal amount of \$1.9 million each, the following eight payments are in the principal amount of \$3.8 million each, the next subsequent three payments are in the principal amount of \$5.6 million each, and the last payment is of the remaining principal amount. The term loan may be prepaid before maturity in whole or in part at our option without penalty or premium. As of May 31, 2017, the carrying value of the term loan approximates the fair value, based on Level 2 inputs (observable market prices in less than active markets), as the

interest rate is variable over the selected interest period and is similar to current rates at which we can borrow funds. The interest rate of the credit facility as of May 31, 2017 was 2.75%.

Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed until December 2, 2019, at which time all amounts outstanding must be repaid. As of May 31, 2017, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving line and \$0.5 million of letters of credit.

The credit facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limit or restrict our ability to, among other things, grant liens, make investments, make acquisitions, incur indebtedness, merge or consolidate, dispose of assets, pay dividends or make distributions, repurchase stock, change the nature of the business, enter into certain transactions with affiliates and enter into burdensome agreements, in each case subject to customary exceptions for a credit facility of this size and type. We are also required to maintain compliance with a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, a consolidated total leverage ratio and a consolidated senior secured leverage ratio. We are in compliance with these covenants as of May 31, 2017.

#### **Table of Contents**

## Cash Flows from Operating Activities

|   | Six Mon  | ths      |
|---|----------|----------|
|   | Ended    |          |
| (In thousands)                                    | May 31,  | May 31,  |
| (In thousands)                                    | 2017     | 2016     |
| Net income  | \$9,816  | \$10,491 |
| Non-cash reconciling items included in net income | 29,682   | 34,117   |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities       | 20,231   | 4,654    |
| Net cash flows from operating activities          | \$59,729 | \$49,262 |

The increase in cash generated from operations in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 as compared to the first six months of fiscal year 2016 was primarily due to changes in operating assets and liabilities. Cash flows in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 were particularly strong due to lower operating costs. Our gross accounts receivable as of May 31, 2017 decreased by \$21.9 million from the end of fiscal year 2016, which is primarily due to higher collections than billings during the period. Days sales outstanding (DSO) in accounts receivable was 42 days compared to 45 days in the fiscal second quarter of 2016.

#### Cash Flows used in Investing Activities

|   | Six Months Ended |            |  |  |
|---|------------------|------------|--|--|
| (In thousands)                                  | May 31,          | May 31,    |  |  |
| (III tilousalius)                               | 2017             | 2016       |  |  |
| Net investment activity                         | \$(4,936)        | \$(21,085) |  |  |
| Purchases of property and equipment             | (523)            | (2,617)    |  |  |
| Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired | (28,270)         | _          |  |  |
| Net cash flows used in investing activities     | \$(33,729)       | \$(23,702) |  |  |

Net cash outflows and inflows of our net investment activity are generally a result of the timing of our purchases and maturities of securities, which are classified as cash equivalents or short-term securities. In addition, we purchased \$0.5 million of property and equipment in the first six months of fiscal year 2017, as compared to \$2.6 million in the first six months of fiscal year 2016. Most significantly, however, we acquired DataRPM during the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 for a net cash amount of \$28.3 million and did not complete any acquisitions during the first six months of fiscal year 2016.

#### Cash Flows used in Financing Activities

|  | Six Month  | s Ended    |
|--|------------|------------|
| (In thousands)                               | May 31,    | May 31,    |
| (III tilousalius)                            | 2017       | 2016       |
| Proceeds from stock-based compensation plans | \$5,031    | \$6,007    |
| Repurchases of common stock                  | (24,954)   | (58,516)   |
| Payment of long-term debt                    | (7,500)    | (5,625)    |
| Dividend payments to shareholders            | (12,116)   |            |
| Other financing activities                   | (2,014)    | (2,493)    |
| Net cash flows used in financing activities  | \$(41,553) | \$(60,627) |

During the first six months of fiscal year 2017, we received \$5.0 million from the exercise of stock options and the issuance of shares under our employee stock purchase plan as compared to \$6.0 million in the first six months of fiscal

year 2016. In addition, in the first six months of fiscal year 2017, we repurchased \$25.0 million of our common stock under our share repurchase plan compared to \$58.5 million in the same period of the prior year. Furthermore, we made principal payments of our long-term debt of \$7.5 million in the first six months of fiscal year 2017 compared to \$5.6 million in the same period of the prior year. We also made dividend payments of \$12.1 million to our shareholders during the first six months of fiscal 2017, as compared to no payments in the first six months of fiscal 2016, which was prior to our initiation of a quarterly cash dividend.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Indemnification Obligations**

We include standard intellectual property indemnification provisions in our licensing agreements in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to our product license agreements, we will indemnify, hold harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, generally business partners or customers, in connection with certain patent, copyright or other intellectual property infringement claims by third parties with respect to our products. Other agreements with our customers provide indemnification for claims relating to property damage or personal injury resulting from the performance of services by us or our subcontractors. Historically, our costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims relating to such indemnity agreements have been insignificant. Accordingly, the estimated fair value of these indemnification provisions is immaterial.

#### Liquidity Outlook

We believe that existing cash balances, together with funds generated from operations and amounts available under our credit facility, will be sufficient to finance our operations and meet our foreseeable cash requirements through at least the next twelve months. We do not contemplate a need for any foreign repatriation of the earnings which are deemed permanently reinvested. Our foreseeable cash needs include our planned capital expenditures, debt repayment, quarterly cash dividends, share repurchases, acquisitions, if any, lease commitments, restructuring obligations and other long-term obligations.

#### Revenue Backlog

| (In thousands)        | May 31, 2017   |         | May 31, 2016 |         |
|-----------------------|----------------|---------|--------------|---------|
| Deferred revenue,     |                |         |              |         |
| primarily related to  | <b>\$</b>      | 142,074 | \$           | 142,235 |
| unexpired maintenanc  | e <sup>Φ</sup> | 142,074 | Ψ            | 142,233 |
| and support contracts |                |         |              |         |
| Multi-year licensing  | 21,344         |         | 25,337       |         |
| arrangements (1)      | 21,544         |         | 23,331       |         |
| Total revenue backlog | \$             | 163,418 | \$           | 167,572 |

Our backlog of orders not included on the balance sheet is not subject to our normal accounting controls for information that is either reported in or derived from our basic financial statements. Note that approximately \$20.4 (1)million and \$23.5 million of the multi-year licensing arrangements as of May 31, 2017 and May 31, 2016, respectively, relate to OEM arrangements in our Data Connectivity and Integration business segment, while the remaining amount relates to arrangements in our OpenEdge business segment.

We typically fulfill most of our software license orders within 30 days of acceptance of a purchase order. Assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met, we recognize software license revenue upon shipment of the product, or if delivered electronically, when the customer has the right to access the software. Because there are many elements governing when revenue is recognized, including when orders are shipped, credit approval obtained, completion of internal control processes over revenue recognition and other factors, management has some control in determining the period in which certain revenue is recognized. In addition, there is no industry standard for the definition of backlog and there may be an element of estimation in determining the amount. As such, direct comparisons with other companies may be difficult or potentially misleading.

#### Legal and Other Regulatory Matters

See discussion regarding legal and other regulatory matters in Part II, Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

## **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

Our only significant off-balance sheet commitments relate to operating lease obligations. Future annual minimum rental lease payments are detailed in Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016. We have no "off-balance sheet arrangements" within the meaning of Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

## **Contractual Obligations**

There have been no material changes to our contractual obligations disclosed in tabular format in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASU 2017-04). ASU 2017-04 amends Topic 350 to simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. This update requires the performance of an annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An impairment charge should be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value. However, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The guidance in ASU 2017-04 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. We are currently considering whether to adopt this update prior to the required adoption date.

In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805), Clarifying the Definition of a Business (ASU 2017-01). ASU 2017-01 provides a screen to determine when an integrated set of assets and activities is not a business. The screen requires that when substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired (or disposed of) is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not a business. This screen reduces the number of transactions that need to be further evaluated. The guidance in ASU 2017-01 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. We are currently considering whether to adopt this update prior to the required adoption date and, in any event, do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In August 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (ASU 2016-15). ASU 2016-15 is intended to add or clarify guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows and to eliminate the diversity in practice related to such classifications. The guidance in ASU 2016-15 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that implementation of this update will have upon adoption on our consolidated statement of cash flows.

In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (ASU 2016-09). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify various aspects of the accounting for employee share-based payment transactions, including accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. The guidance in ASU 2016-09 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that implementation of this update will have upon adoption on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02), which requires lessees to record most leases on their balance sheets, recognizing a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments and a right-to-use asset for the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The guidance in ASU 2016-02 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We currently expect that most of our operating lease commitments will be subject to the update and recognized as operating lease liabilities and right-of-use assets upon adoption. However, we are currently evaluating the effect that implementation of this update will have upon adoption on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (ASU 2015-03). ASU 2015-03 requires debt issuance costs to be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying value of the associated debt liability,

consistent with the presentation of a debt discount. The guidance in ASU 2015-03 is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within the reporting period. Accordingly, upon adoption in the first quarter of fiscal 2017, we reclassified \$1.0 million from other assets to long-term debt in our condensed consolidated balance sheet.

#### **Table of Contents**

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (ASU 2014-09). ASU 2014-09 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard also requires new disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. This new guidance was initially effective for annual reporting periods (including interim reporting periods within those periods) beginning after December 15, 2016 and early adoption was not permitted. However, in July 2015, the FASB voted to defer the effective date of this ASU by one year for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted as of the original effective date. As a result, the effective date for the Company will be December 1, 2018.

Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or a modified approach to adopt the guidance. The Company plans to adopt this ASU in accordance with the full retrospective approach, effective December 1, 2018. Fiscal year 2019 quarterly results, and comparative prior periods, will be prepared in accordance with ASC 606. The first Annual Report on Form 10-K issued in accordance with ASC 606 will be for the period ended November 30, 2019.

Management is currently assessing the impact the adoption of this standard will have on the Company's consolidated financial statements, but anticipates that the revenue recognition related to accounting for the following transactions will be most impacted:

Revenue from term licenses with extended payment terms over the term of the agreement within our Data Connectivity and Integration segment - These transactions are typically recognized when the amounts are billed to the customer under current revenue recognition guidance. In accordance with ASU 2014-09, revenue from term license performance obligations is expected to be recognized upon delivery and revenue from maintenance performance obligations is expected to be recognized over the contract term. To the extent the Company enters into future term licenses with extended payment terms after adoption of ASU 2014-09, revenue from term licenses with extended payment terms will be recognized prior to the customer being billed and the Company will recognize a net contract asset on the balance sheet. Accordingly, license revenue will be accelerated under ASU 2014-09 as the Company currently does not recognize revenue until the amounts have been billed to the customer.

Revenue from transactions with multiple elements within our Application Development and Deployment segment (i.e., sales of perpetual licenses with maintenance and/or support) - These transactions are currently recognized ratably over the associated maintenance period as the Company does not have vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) for maintenance or support. Under ASU 2014-09, the requirement to have VSOE for undelivered elements that exists under current guidance is eliminated. Accordingly, the Company will recognize a portion of the sales price as revenue upon delivery of the license instead of recognizing the entire sales price ratably over the maintenance period.

## Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, there were no significant changes to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk. Please refer to Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended November 30, 2016 for a more complete discussion of the market risks we encounter.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our management maintains disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is processed, recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively), as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were

#### **Table of Contents**

effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted by us under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the requisite time periods and that such information was accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

### (b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated our "internal control over financial reporting" as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) to determine whether any changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2017 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

## Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not believe that the outcome of any of these legal matters will have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves certain risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. There have been no material changes in our assessment of our risk factors from those set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2016. For convenience, all of our risk factors are included below. The risks discussed below could materially affect our business, financial condition and future results. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be insignificant also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results in the future.

Our revenue and quarterly results may fluctuate, which could adversely affect our stock price. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, significant fluctuations in our quarterly operating results that may be caused by many factors. These factors include:

changes in demand for our products;

introduction, enhancement or announcement of products by us or our competitors;

market acceptance of our new products;

the growth rates of certain market segments in which we compete;

size and timing of significant orders;

a high percentage of our revenue is generated in the third month of each fiscal quarter and any failure to receive, complete or process orders at the end of any quarter could cause us to fall short of our revenue targets;

budgeting cycles of customers;

mix of distribution channels;

mix of products and services sold;

mix of international and North American

revenues;

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

changes in the level of operating expenses;

the amount of our stock-based compensation;

changes in management;

restructuring programs;

changes in our sales force;

completion or announcement of acquisitions by us or our competitors;

eustomer order deferrals in anticipation of new products announced by us or our competitors; and general economic conditions in regions in which we conduct business.

Revenue forecasting is uncertain, and the failure to meet our forecasts could result in a decline in our stock price. Our revenues, particularly new software license revenues, are difficult to forecast. We use a pipeline system to forecast revenues and trends in our business. Our pipeline estimates may prove to be unreliable either in a particular quarter or over a longer period of time, in part because the conversion rate of the pipeline into contracts can be difficult to

estimate and requires management judgment. A variation in the conversion rate could cause us to plan or budget incorrectly and materially adversely impact our business or our planned results of operations. Furthermore, most of our expenses are relatively fixed, including costs of personnel and facilities, and are not easily reduced. Thus, an unexpected reduction in our revenue, or failure to achieve the anticipated rate of growth, would have a material adverse effect on our profitability. If our operating results do not meet our publicly stated guidance or the expectations of investors, our stock price may decline.

The addition of a subscription model to augment our traditional perpetual licensing model may negatively impact our license growth in the near term. Under a subscription model, downturns or upturns in sales may not be immediately reflected in our results of operations. Subscription pricing allows customers to use our products at a lower initial cost when compared to the sale of a perpetual license. Although the subscription model is designed to increase the number of customers who purchase our products and services and create a recurring revenue stream that is more predictable, it creates certain risks related to the timing of revenue recognition and reduced cash flows. A decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any period may not be immediately reflected in our results for that period, but may result in a decline in our revenue in future quarters. If we were to

#### **Table of Contents**

experience significant downturns in subscription sales and renewal rates, our results of operations might not reflect such downturns until future periods. Further, any increases in sales under our subscription sales model could result in decreased revenues over the short term if they are offset by a decline in sales from perpetual license customers.

We recognize a substantial portion of our revenue from sales made through third parties, including our application partners, distributors/resellers, and OEMs, and adverse developments in the businesses of these third parties or in our relationships with them could harm our revenues and results of operations. Our future results depend upon our continued successful distribution of our products through our application partner, distributor/reseller, and OEM channels. The activities of these third parties are not within our direct control. Our failure to manage our relationships with these third parties effectively could impair the success of our sales, marketing and support activities. A reduction in the sales efforts, technical capabilities or financial viability of these parties, a misalignment of interest between us and them, or a termination of our relationship with a major application partner, distributor/reseller, or OEM could have a negative effect on our sales and financial results. Any adverse effect on the application partners', distributors'/resellers', or OEMs' businesses related to competition, pricing and other factors could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Weakness in the U.S. and international economies may result in fewer sales of our products and may otherwise harm our business. We are subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in global economic conditions, especially those in the U.S., Europe and Latin America. The past five years have been characterized by weak global economic conditions, tightening of credit markets and instability in the financial markets. If these conditions continue or worsen, customers may delay, reduce or forego technology purchases, both directly and through our application partners and OEMs. This could result in reductions in sales of our products, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition. Further, deteriorating economic conditions could adversely affect our customers and their ability to pay amounts owed to us. Any of these events would likely harm our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Our international operations expose us to additional risks, and changes in global economic and political conditions could adversely affect our international operations, our revenue and our net income. Approximately 45% of our total revenue is generated from sales outside North America. Political and/or financial instability, oil price shocks and armed conflict in various regions of the world can lead to economic uncertainty and may adversely impact our business. If customers' buying patterns, decision-making processes, timing of expected deliveries and timing of new projects unfavorably change due to economic or political conditions, there would be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Other potential risks inherent in our international business include:

donger payment cycles;

eredit risk and higher levels of payment fraud;

greater difficulties in accounts receivable collection;

varying regulatory requirements;

compliance with international and local trade, labor and export control laws;

compliance with U.S. laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws prohibiting bribery and corrupt payments to government officials;

restrictions on the transfer of funds;

difficulties in developing, staffing, and simultaneously managing a large number of varying foreign operations as a result of distance, language, and cultural differences;

reduced or minimal protection of intellectual property rights in some countries;

ławs and business practices that favor local competitors or prohibit foreign ownership of certain businesses;

seasonal reductions in business activity during the summer months in Europe and certain other parts of the world;

economic instability in emerging markets; and potentially adverse tax consequences.

Any one or more of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our international operations, and, consequently, on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Risk Relating to the Referendum of the United Kingdom's Membership of the European Union. The announcement of the Referendum of the United Kingdom's (or the U.K.) Membership of the European Union (E.U.) (referred to as Brexit), advising for the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, resulted in significant volatility in global stock markets and currency exchange rate fluctuations that resulted in the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies in which we conduct business. As described elsewhere in this 10-Q, we translate revenue denominated in foreign currency into U.S. dollars for our financial statements. During periods of a strengthening dollar, our reported international revenue is reduced because

#### **Table of Contents**

foreign currencies translate into fewer U.S. dollars. The announcement of Brexit has created global economic uncertainty, which may cause our customers to closely monitor their costs and reduce their spending budget on our products and services.

The effects of Brexit will depend on any agreements the U.K. makes to retain access to E.U. markets either during a transitional period or more permanently. The measures could potentially disrupt the markets we serve and may cause us to lose customers, and employees. In addition, Brexit could lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the U.K. determines which E.U. laws to replace or replicate.

Any of these effects of Brexit, among others, could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. Changes in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar have adversely affected our results of operations and financial position. During recent years, the value of the U.S. dollar strengthened in comparison to certain foreign currencies, including in Europe, Brazil and Australia. As approximately one-third of our revenue is denominated in foreign currency, our revenue results have been impacted, and we expect will continue to be impacted, by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

We seek to reduce our exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain actual and forecasted transactions of selected currencies (mainly in Europe, Brazil, India and Australia). Our currency hedging transactions may not be effective in reducing any adverse impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Further, the imposition of exchange or price controls or other restrictions on the conversion of foreign currencies could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Technology and customer requirements evolve rapidly in our industry, and if we do not continue to develop new products and enhance our existing products in response to these changes, our business could be harmed. Ongoing enhancements to our product sets will be required to enable us to maintain our competitive position. We may not be successful in developing and marketing enhancements to our products on a timely basis, and any enhancements we develop may not adequately address the changing needs of the marketplace. Overlaying the risks associated with our existing products and enhancements are ongoing technological developments and rapid changes in customer requirements. Our future success will depend upon our ability to develop and introduce in a timely manner new products that take advantage of technological advances and respond to new customer requirements. We may not be successful in developing new products incorporating new technology on a timely basis, and any new products may not adequately address the changing needs of the marketplace. Failure to develop new products and product enhancements that meet market needs in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We are substantially dependent on our Progress OpenEdge products. We derive a significant portion of our revenue from software license and maintenance revenue attributable to our Progress OpenEdge product set. Accordingly, our future results depend on continued market acceptance of OpenEdge. If new technologies emerge that are superior to, or more responsive to customer requirements, than OpenEdge such that we are unable to maintain OpenEdge's competitive position within its marketplace, this will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

The increased emphasis on a cloud strategy may give rise to risks that could harm our business. We are devoting significant resources to the development of cloud-based technologies and service offerings where we have a limited operating history. Our cloud strategy requires continued investment in product development and cloud operations as well as a change in the way we price and deliver our products. Many of our competitors may have advantages over us

due to their larger presence, larger developer network, deeper experience in the cloud-based computing market, and greater sales and marketing resources. It is uncertain whether these strategies will prove successful or whether we will be able to develop the infrastructure and business models more quickly than our competitors. Our cloud strategy may give rise to a number of risks, including the following:

•f new or current customers desire only perpetual licenses, we may not be successful in selling subscriptions; although we intend to support our perpetual license business, the increased emphasis on a cloud strategy may raise concerns among our installed customer base;

we may be unsuccessful in achieving our target pricing;

our revenues might decline over the short or long term as a result of this strategy;

our relationships with existing partners that resell perpetual licenses may be damaged; and

we may incur costs at a higher than forecasted rate as we enhance and expand our cloud operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

We may make additional acquisitions or investments in new businesses, products or technologies that involve additional risks, which could disrupt our business or harm our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. We may make acquisitions of businesses or investments in companies that offer complementary products, services and technologies. Any acquisitions that we do complete involve a number of risks, including the risks of assimilating the operations and personnel of acquired companies, realizing the value of the acquired assets relative to the price paid, distraction of management from our ongoing businesses and potential product disruptions associated with the sale of the acquired company's products. In addition, an acquisition may not further our business strategy as we expected, we may not integrate an acquired company or technology as successfully as we expected or we may overpay for, or otherwise not realize the expected return on, our investments, which could adversely affect our business or operating results and potentially cause impairment to assets that we recorded as a part of an acquisition including intangible assets and goodwill. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. The consideration we pay for any future acquisitions could include our stock. As a result, future acquisitions could cause dilution to existing shareholders and to earnings per share.

The segments of the software industry in which we participate are intensely competitive, and our inability to compete effectively could harm our business. We experience significant competition from a variety of sources with respect to the marketing and distribution of our products. Many of our competitors have greater financial, marketing or technical resources than we do and may be able to adapt more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or to devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their products than we can. Increased competition could make it more difficult for us to maintain our market presence or lead to downward pricing pressure.

In addition, the marketplace for new products is intensely competitive and characterized by low barriers to entry. For example, an increase in market acceptance of open source software may cause downward pricing pressures. As a result, new competitors possessing technological, marketing or other competitive advantages may emerge and rapidly acquire market share. In addition, current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing their ability to deliver products that better address the needs of our prospective customers. Current and potential competitors may also be more successful than we are in having their products or technologies widely accepted. We may be unable to compete successfully against current and future competitors, and our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We rely on the experience and expertise of our skilled employees, and must continue to attract and retain qualified technical, marketing and managerial personnel in order to succeed. Our future success will depend in a large part upon our ability to attract and retain highly skilled technical, managerial, sales and marketing personnel. There is significant competition for such personnel in the software industry. We may not continue to be successful in attracting and retaining the personnel we require to develop new and enhanced products and to continue to grow and operate profitably.

The loss of technology licensed from third parties could adversely affect our ability to deliver our products. We utilize certain technology that we license from third parties, including software that is integrated with internally developed software and used in our products to perform key functions. This technology, or functionally similar technology, may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms in the future, or at all. The loss of any significant third-party technology license could cause delays in our ability to deliver our products or services until equivalent technology is developed internally or equivalent third-party technology, if available, is identified, licensed and integrated.

Privacy concerns and laws, evolving regulation of cloud computing, cross-border data transfer restrictions and other domestic or foreign regulations may limit the use and adoption of our products and solutions and adversely affect our

business. Regulation related to the provision of services on the Internet is increasing, as federal, state and foreign governments continue to adopt new laws and regulations addressing data privacy and the collection, processing, storage and use of personal information. In some cases, foreign data privacy laws and regulations, such as the European Union's Data Protection Directive, and the country-specific laws and regulations that implement that directive, also govern the processing of personal information. Further, laws are increasingly aimed at the use of personal information for marketing purposes, such as the European Union's e-Privacy Directive, and the country-specific regulations that implement that directive. Such laws and regulations are subject to new and differing interpretations and may be inconsistent among jurisdictions. These and other requirements could reduce demand for our products and solutions or restrict our ability to store and process data or, in some cases, impact our ability to offer our products and solutions in certain locations or our customers' ability to deploy our solutions globally.

For example, the European Court of Justice recently invalidated the U.S.-EU Safe Harbor framework that had been in place since 2000, which allowed companies to meet certain European legal requirements for the transfer of personal data from the European Economic Area to the United States. While other adequate legal mechanisms to lawfully transfer such data remain, the invalidation of the U.S.-EU Safe Harbor framework may result in different European data protection regulators applying

#### **Table of Contents**

differing standards for the transfer of personal data, which could result in increased regulation, cost of compliance and limitations on data transfer for us and our customers. The costs of compliance with and other burdens imposed by laws, regulations and standards may limit the use and adoption of our services, reduce overall demand for our services, lead to significant fines, penalties or liabilities for noncompliance, or slow the pace at which we close sales transactions, any of which could harm our business.

Furthermore, concerns regarding data privacy may cause our customers' customers to resist providing the data necessary to allow our customers to use our products and solutions effectively. Even the perception that the privacy of personal information is not satisfactorily protected or does not meet regulatory requirements could inhibit sales of our products or solutions, and could limit adoption of our cloud-based solutions.

If our products contain software defects or security flaws, it could harm our revenues and expose us to litigation. Our products, despite extensive testing and quality control, may contain defects or security flaws, especially when we first introduce them or when new versions are released. We may need to issue corrective releases of our software products to fix any defects or errors. The detection and correction of any security flaws can be time consuming and costly. Errors in our software products could affect the ability of our products to work with other hardware or software products, delay the development or release of new products or new versions of products, adversely affect market acceptance of our products and expose us to potential litigation. If we experience errors or delays in releasing new products or new versions of products, such errors or delays could have a material adverse effect on our revenue.

We could incur substantial cost in protecting our proprietary software technology or if we fail to protect our technology, which would harm our business. We rely principally on a combination of contract provisions and copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary technology. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. This litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, whether or not we ultimately prevail on the merits. The steps we take to protect our proprietary rights may be inadequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology; moreover, others could independently develop similar technology.

We could be subject to claims that we infringe intellectual property rights of others, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Third parties could assert infringement claims in the future with respect to our products and technology, and such claims might be successful. This litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, whether or not we ultimately prevail on the merits. This litigation could also lead to our being prohibited from selling one or more of our products, cause reluctance by potential customers to purchase our products, or result in liability to our customers and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

If our security measures are breached, our products and services may be perceived as not being secure, customers may curtail or stop using our products and services, and we may incur significant legal and financial exposure. Our products and services involve the storage and transmission of our customers' proprietary information, and security breaches could expose us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation, and potential liability. Our security measures may be breached due to the actions of outside parties, employee error, malfeasance, or otherwise, and, as a result, an unauthorized party may obtain access to our data or our customers' data. Any such breach or unauthorized access could result in significant legal and financial exposure, increased costs to defend litigation or damage to our reputation, and a loss of confidence in the security of our products and services that could potentially have an adverse effect on our business. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these

techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and we could lose customers.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities. As a multinational corporation, we are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our global provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. In the ordinary course of a global business, there are many intercompany transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Our income tax returns are routinely subject to audits by tax authorities. Although we regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine our tax estimates, a final determination of tax audits or tax disputes could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

#### **Table of Contents**

We are also subject to non-income taxes, such as payroll, sales, use, value-added, net worth, property and goods and services taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. We are regularly under audit by tax authorities with respect to these non-income taxes and may have exposure to additional non-income tax liabilities, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In addition, our future effective tax rates could be favorably or unfavorably affected by changes in tax rates, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their interpretation. Such changes could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

We are required to comply with certain financial and operating covenants under our credit facility and to make scheduled debt payments as they become due; any failure to comply with those covenants or to make scheduled payments could cause amounts borrowed under the facility to become immediately due and payable or prevent us from borrowing under the facility. In December 2014, we entered into a credit facility, which consists of a \$150 million term loan and a \$150 million revolving loan (and may be increased by an additional \$75 million in the form of revolving loans or term loans, or a combination thereof if the existing or additional lenders are willing to make such increased commitments). This facility matures in December 2019, at which time any amounts outstanding will be due and payable in full. We may wish to borrow additional amounts under the facility in the future to support our operations, including for strategic acquisitions and share repurchases.

We are required to comply with specified financial and operating covenants and to make scheduled repayments of our term loan, which may limit our ability to operate our business as we otherwise might operate it. Our failure to comply with any of these covenants or to meet any payment obligations under the facility could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, would result in any amounts outstanding, including any accrued interest and unpaid fees, becoming immediately due and payable. We might not have sufficient working capital or liquidity to satisfy any repayment obligations in the event of an acceleration of those obligations. In addition, if we are not in compliance with the financial and operating covenants at the time we wish to borrow funds, we will be unable to borrow funds.

Our common stock price may continue to be volatile, which could result in losses for investors. The market price of our common stock, like that of other technology companies, is volatile and is subject to wide fluctuations in response to quarterly variations in operating results, announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or other events or factors. Our stock price may also be affected by broader market trends unrelated to our performance. As a result, purchasers of our common stock may be unable at any given time to sell their shares at or above the price they paid for them.

#### **Table of Contents**

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Items 2(a) and 2(b) are not applicable.

#### (c) Stock Repurchases

Information related to the repurchases of our common stock by month in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except per share and share data):

|         |                          | Total   | Approximate   |
|---------|--------------------------|---|---|
|         |                          | Number of   | Dollar Value  |
| Total   | Average                  | Shares  | of Shares   |
|         | Price Paid per           | Purchased   | that May Yet  |
|         |                          | as Part of  | be  |
|         |                          | Publicly  | Purchased   |
|         |                          | Announced   | Under the   |
|         |                          | Plans or  | Plans or  |
|         |                          | Programs  | Programs (1)  |
| 237,961 | \$ 28.85                 | 237,961   | \$ 110,386  |
|         | _                        |   | 110,386   |
|         | _                        |   | 110,386   |
| 237,961 | \$ 28.85                 | 237,961   | \$ 110,386  |
|         | Shares Purchased 237,961 | Number of Price Shares Paid per Purchased Share  237,961 \$28.85  — — — | Total Average Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs  237,961 \$ 28.85 237,961  — — — — — |

(1) In March 2016, our Board of Directors authorized a new \$100.0 million share repurchase program. As of May 31, 2017, there is \$110.4 million remaining under this authorization.

#### Item 6. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed or furnished as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q:

## Exhibit No. Description

- Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Yogesh K. Gupta
- Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Paul A. Jalbert
- 32.1\*\* Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

The following materials from Progress Software Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2017 and November 30, 2016; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

<sup>\*</sup> Filed herewith

\*\*Furnished herewith

## **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

## PROGRESS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

(Registrant)

Dated: July 7, 2017 /s/ YOGESH K. GUPTA

Yogesh K. Gupta

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: July 7, 2017 /s/ PAUL A. JALBERT

Paul A. Jalbert

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **EXHIBIT INDEX**

## Exhibit No. Description

- 31.1\* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Yogesh K. Gupta
- Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Paul A. Jalbert
- 32.1\*\* Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

The following materials from Progress Software Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2017 and November 30, 2016; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended May 31, 2017 and 2016; and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

<sup>\*</sup> Filed herewith

<sup>\*\*</sup>Furnished herewith